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      November 3. 1945

      Voltri, Italy

      Luchese had volunteered to take Bernadette and Rene to the Falcone Carnival, which made its last stop of the year near Genoa.

      “Is Luchese taking us to the carnival?” Bernadette asked.

      “Yes sweetheart,” Noah replied.

      “He’s always fun,” Bernadette said. “That’ll make things go better.”

      “I don’t know if I want to go,” Rene said. “The carnival reminds me of Nonna and Nonno.”

      “But Rene,” Bernadette said. “All the carnival people want to see us.”

      “I know,” Rene said. “But it’s still sad to go.”

      “It’ll be fine, Rene,” Luchese said. “If it gets to be too much for either one of you, we’ll leave early.”

      Rene nodded.

      “Okay,” Francesca said to Noah “We have to settle on the wedding menu before Luchese takes the kids to the carnival. We only have two weeks.”

      They left the café and continued the conversation outside.  “Lasagna or what the hell do you call it, Spaghetti Carbonara?” Francesca asked.

      “I wish we could have both,” Noah replied. “The best part of Italian and Jewish weddings after the wedding is the food at the reception.”

      “I understand, my love, but we’re barely six months out of a war and supplies are still low.”

      “I know. What do you think, Lo Spirito?” Noah asked.

      “Don’t get me in the middle of this discussion,” Luchese replied.

      “You’re a great help,” Noah said. “How about you, kids?”

      “Lasagna,” Bernadette said.

      “I like the Carbonara,” Rene answered.

      “That brought us closer to a decision,” Francesca said, smiling.

      “Let’s do the lasagna then,” Noah said. “We won’t have to use as many eggs. Sorry Rene.”

      “It’s okay,” Rene said. “I love lasagna to.”

      “Great,” Francesca replied. “We’ll have lasagna and gnocchi as the two entrees.”

      “I love gnocchi,” Bernadette said.

      “Me too,” Rene said. “I remember my mother used to make it when…things were better.”

      “Absolutely,” Francesca said. “What Genovese wedding reception would be complete without gnocchi and pesto? I’ve been stashing potatoes for the last month.”

      “I wondered why you hadn’t made French fries the last couple of weeks,” Noah said.

      “Sorry,” Francesca said. “I know you like them.”

      “Well,” Luchese said. “Now that’s settled, let’s talk about something we can all agree on. Italian politics.”

      Francesca laughed. “Are you kidding? The Americans are interfering with our political parties. Look what they’re doing to undermine Prime Minister Parri and the Action Party.”

      “Can we do anything about it?” Luchese asked, looking to Noah.

      “No,” Noah replied. “I’m sorry. Unfortunately, if push came to shove, we’d have to help the Americans succeed. It’s part of history.”

      “It’s a damn shame,” Francesca said. “Like we couldn’t stop that fucking Vatican ratline.”

      “I’m sorry my love,” Noah said, “It has to be allowed to exist. Again, it’s part of history.”

      “Yeah, all for the greater good,” Francesca said. “I’m almost ashamed to be married by the Church.”

      “Well Father Virgillo isn’t like those collaborators in Vatican City,” Luchese said.

      “True,” Noah said. “His efforts in the war prove that. He’ll do a great job. We’re almost to Mrs. Pitt… my mother’s. I bet if we ask her, she’ll find a way to cook all three entrees. I know the kids would help.”

      “We would,” Bernadette chimed in.

      “I give up,” Francesca said.

      They came to an intersection, where Luchese’s car was parked on a side street. “Come on, kids. Carnival time,” Luchese said. “And you two have a good time. Stay safe.”

      “Thanks,” Francesca said, and looked to the children. “Be good for Luchese and try not to eat too many sweets.”

      “You sound like Mrs. Brady,” Noah said.

      “Who?” Francesca asked.

      “You’ll learn about her in maybe 25 years,” Noah said. “Have a good time, kids.”

      “We’ll try,” Rene said. The children went to the car with Luchese, waving goodbye as they drove off.

      “Will we ever get used to being foster parents?” Francesca asked.

      “I think so,” Noah said. “Thank God they’re great kids.”

      “A credit to their parents and foster grandparents.”

      “And us,” Noah said.

      “Of course,” Francesca replied, and took Noah’s hand.

      “I was just thinking about what Luchese said about staying safe.”

      “Force of habit from the war,” Francesca said. “Don’t think about it. Let’s go see your mother.”

      “I have to admit,” Noah said, “it’s getting easier with her. I actually think of her as another mom.”

      “Good. I was worried I’d have to break her neck. We can’t have her telling people you’re not really Pitto.”

      Noah wondered if she was joking.

      A strange sensation prickled Noah’s skin as they approached Mrs. Pitto’s apartment. A yellow light engulfed them both. “What the hell,” Noah said.

      “What’s going on?”

      “I don’t know.”

      “Is the Foundation doing this?” Francesca asked.

      “I hope so.”

      “I thought we were done with them.”

      A moment later, they vanished.
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      November 19, 2024

      The Falcone Foundation Headquarters

      Arizona State University

      Tempe Arizona

      Mariah, Tori, Garth, Ruben and Connor were still held by forcefield on the teleporter pad. The Novus Ordo agents had barricaded the room from the outside, and continued to examine the teleportation system. “Just imagine the possibilities,” Pilo said, taking the history book from Breuner “Do we return to 1945 and change history? We know everything that will happen.”

      “Or start before the war,” Breuner said. “With that temporal teleportation device, we can learn to go back and notify the Fuhrer—”

      “And Duce,” Angelo interrupted.

      “Yes of course,” Breuner said. “We can tell them what moves to make in order to change the course of the war.”

      “No!” Garth cried out.

      “You’ll create temporal paradoxes,” Mariah said. “They’ll rip reality apart.”

      “To create the reality we desire,” Pilo said, “I’m willing to take that chance.”

      “Angelo, Pilo,” Breuner said. “Look at the map of this University on the wall.”

      “What about it?” Angelo asked.

      “There’s a building called Biodesign.” Breuner said.” That may be interesting to look at before we go.”

      Angelo studied the map. “And we’re in Earth and Space Science. I wonder what products of future human ingenuity can be found here.”

      “We can bring new technology back to our time,” Pilo said. “With this World History book alone, we could remake the world in our own image.”

      “There are other buildings of interest as well,” Angelo said, still looking over the map. “We’ll need another one of those devices.” He pointed to Garth. “Take his. I’ll see if I can release the hold on him without freeing the others.

      Pilo went and stood beside Garth.

      “Breuner,” Angelo said. “Go to her.” He indicated Tori.

      “Colonel Garth,” Angelo said, “hand your device to my friend here, or my other associate will kill the girl when I let down the shield.”

      Breuner aimed a revolver at Tori, who stared down the barrel, trembling with fear.

      “Do we have an understanding?” Angelo asked Garth.

      “We do,” Garth replied.

      Angelo released the holds on Garth and Tori. Pilo punched Garth, who fell to the floor. “Sorry,” Pilo said. “I’m not taking any chances.” He took the TMD from Garth’s hand and stepped back as Angelo reestablished the holds. Pilo gave the TMD to Breuner.

      “This is like the other one,” Breuner said. “I’ll program it for us.”

      “How do they know how to program the TMD?” Connor asked.

      “You think we came here straight from the base at Savona,” Angelo said. “It’s been a few days for us and Breuner and his team had time to analyze and test it.”

      Pilo pulled the map from the wall and gave it to Breuner. “Program the devices to take us to this destination. Angelo, get rid of our friends on the pad there.”

      “I think I have it figured out,” Angelo said.

      “Why not just shoot them?” Breuner asked.

      “No,” Angelo said. “This is more fitting, considering the trouble they’ve caused us.”

      Angelo looked at the team on the pad. “I want you to know that you were exceptional adversaries.”

      “Fuck off,” Mariah said.

      “I think she speaks for all of us,” Garth said.

      Angelo smiled, and pressed the teleportation button.  The team vanished.

      “Where did you send them?” Breuner asked.

      “Nowhere,” Angelo replied. “If I remember what Lorenzo and Klein said on Operation Corvo, their molecular structures will suffer irreversible decay in five minutes.”

      “That may be plenty of time for the Foundation people,” Pilo said. “To break in and save them after we leave.”

      Angelo drew his pistol and fired six shots into the control panel, causing the power to shut down. “Satisfied?”

      “Perfectly,” Pilo replied. “Now let’s see what treasures we can find to take home with us to our Novus Ordo.”

      “Everyone ready?” Angelo asked. The men nodded, and he teleported them away.
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      October 23, 1936

      Florence, Italy

      Close to Santa Croce

      

      Pre-work cafe breakfasts were part of the routine for Professors Spada, Klein, Lorenzo and Saberstein. Today was no different, but Saberstein and Klein barely touched their meals. Their plates were still filled and their coffee cups were still full. They could not take their eyes off the Jewish butcher shop across the street, where the owner and his children were busy scrubbing off graffiti. The Graffiti said Uscire Ebrei. Get out Jews.

      Lorenzo and Spada paid no attention, and busied themselves with a to-do list for the day. “We’ll need to drain more water from the Arno, so we can run the Corvo device for more than five minutes,” Spada said.

      “Agreed,” Lorenzo replied. “I’ll alert the technicians.” He noticed Saberstein and Klein looking away. “Gentlemen, care to join the conversation?”

      “Sorry,” Saberstein replied.

      “We were just watching across the street,” Klein added.

      For the first time, Spada and Lorenzo looked to the butcher shop. “Bastards,” Spada said. “Such trash should be arrested for defacing property like that.”

      “Gutter people,” Lorenzo said. “The Duce’s men will stop such riff-raff from doing that again.”

      “I’m not so sure,” Saberstein said.

      “What do you mean Frederick?” Spada asked.

      “I was just reading about Mussolini’s son-in-law Ciano discussing relations with the Germans.”

      “And?” Lorenzo asked.

      “I’m worried what that will mean for Klein and me. I have a wife, a small boy and another child on the way. I want all of us to be safe.”

      “I second that,” Klein said.

      “I wouldn’t worry,” Spada said. “The Duce values his relationship with the Zionists. He’s not going to jeopardize that for Hitler.”

      “I agree with Spada,” Lorenzo said. “Mussolini is too strong to allow Hitler’s anti-Jewish policies to make their way into Italy. The Italians aren’t like the Germans.”

      “I’m not sure,” Saberstein said again. “Did you hear about the other incidents of anti-Jewish graffiti, on Jewish homes in other parts of Italy?”

      “Random little shits,” Spada said. “This is no coordinated effort on Mussolini’s part to make nice with the Germans.”

      “The random little shits have come to Florence,” Klein countered.  “Then there’s that book by Romanini called Jewish Christian Fascism. And Farinacci’s anti-semitic articles in his newspaper, The Regime.”

      “Political posturing to make good with the Germans,” Lorenzo said.

      “Blame the British and the French for the Duce needing good relations with Germany,” Spada said. “They want the world for themselves, and won’t let us have a second Roman Empire of our own in Africa.”

      “Maybe,” Saberstein said. “I just have a bad feeling. The world seems to want to appease Hitler. They let him get back the Rhineland. Even Mussolini seems to have forgiven Hitler’s mingling in Austrian affairs two years back.”

      “Try not to get paranoid,” Lorenzo said. “You and your families are perfectly safe in Italy. Let’s get back to the morning agenda and discuss today’s tasks for Operations Corvo and Marconi.”
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      June 7, 1943

      Palazzo Coli Bizzarrini,

      Siena, Italy

      9:13 p.m.

      Colonel Marcello and his female assistant Captain Testa were attached to the Italian General Staff. After dinner, they returned to their hotel, the Palazzo Coli Bizzarrini, and went immediately to their room without checking for messages.

      Testa removed the Do Not Disturb sign from the door as they went inside. “We need to finish our analysis for the General Staff,” she said. The two of them sat at a table, looking over maps of Southern Italy, Greece and the Balkans.

      Marcello cleared his throat. “Some of the Germans think the invasion will come from North Africa, into Greece or Yugoslavia”

      “I disagree,” Testa replied. “I think it will be Sicily or Sardinia.”

      “The intelligence says—”

      “I know what the intelligence says,” Testa snapped back. “And I wonder if it’s an Allied attempt to divert our attention elsewhere. The General Staff ignored our earlier recommendations and went into Yugoslavia and Greece. We told them the troops weren’t ready. Now we’re playing defense.”

      “Why do I put up with your stubbornness?” Marcello asked.

      “Because you value my strategic mind.”

      “Among other things.”

      “Later with the other things,” Testa said. “We have to finish the analysis.”

      They worked until midnight, and agreed to present multiple feasibility studies on Allied invasions into Greece, Yugoslavia, Sicily. They’d let the General Staff decide what to do with that information. “I’m tempted to give them the studies for Sicily and Sardinia and leave the others out. If we include them all, the fools will latch onto the wrong ones. Again.”

      “Maybe,” Marcello said. “Let’s sleep on it. We’ll see things fresher in the morning.”

      Right,” Testa replied. “I’ll change into something more comfortable.” She pulled a nightgown from the dresser and took it into the bathroom while the Marcello undressed. “You really don’t need the gown,” Marcello said.

      “I’m cold,” Testa replied. “Don’t worry, I won’t ruin the mood.” She changed into the nightgown and turned on the sink. A explosion engulfed the hotel room, incinerating Testa and Marcello.

      At a nearby café, Ruben and Luchese sat watching as people ran to escape the falling debris. “I was starting to wonder if they’d ever use the bathroom,” Luchese said.

      “Tell me about it,” Ruben agreed. “I thought we’d be stuck here ‘til dawn. It is a good thing they put the do not disturb sign on the door. Wouldn’t want the maid to blow the place up instead.”

      “Well,” Luchese said. “There goes the Duce’s best strategist. She could’ve convinced them to put forces where we don’t want them to be when the invasion starts. Should we send someone in to see if any documents survived?”

      “I’ll take care of that,” Ruben said. “You need to go get to Genoa.”

      Luchese nodded. “I’ve been waiting 84 years for this mission. Do you want me to say hello to anyone?”

      “Nah,” Ruben said. “I haven’t met them yet.”

      “Good luck,” Luchese said.

      “To you too. I’ll see you when it’s over.”

      “You’ll see me before that,” Ruben said.

      “Right,” Luchese said, looking at the fire. “Hopefully the firefighters will stop the fire. The building is a treasure trove of Renaissance architecture and art.”

      “They will.”

      “Yeah, I remember when it was being built,” Luchese said. “A lot has changed since then. Well we must move forward.”
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      November 19, 2024

      The Falcone Foundation Headquarters

      Arizona State University

      Tempe Arizona

      

      Time was running out.

      Bonomi and Amos used and detonated plastic explosives to break through the barricaded door that led to the teleporter room.

      Amos and Ferrara went to the controls, but nothing was working. “Shit,” Ferrara said. She removed an access panel to inspect the damage done by Angelo’s bullets. “They shot the panel to hell.”

      “Can you get them back?” Bonomi asked.

      “I don’t know,” Ferrara snapped.

      Technician Amos interrupted. “Director Ferrara, they have about one minute until decay is irreversible.”

      “I know,” Ferrara said, trying to bring the system up. “Hold on, he didn’t shoot the backup power. Keep your fingers crossed.” She pressed the emergency power button, and the console came to life.

      “Thank God,” Bonomi said.

      Ferrara initiated the materialization process, but the console’s wiring sparked and the system shut down again.

      A moment later Garth, Ruben and Connor appeared.

      “What about Mariah and Tori?” Bonomi asked.

      “I don’t know,” Ferrara said. “Amos, check the wiring and scanners. There may still be time.”

      Garth was furious.

      “How the fuck did they get past security and in here?”

      “Not now Garth,” Ferrara told him.

      “Where are they?” Bonomi asked again.

      “Their patterns are still in the system,” Amos said, looking at the scanners. “But we only bought a few moments when we initiated the materialization process.”

      “Can you get them back?” Ruben asked.

      “I don’t know,” Amos said. “I think I have it rewired. Try it now, Director.”

      Ferrara tried again. The power came back up, and the two women started to materialize. Mariah and Tori smiled—then faded away.

      “What’s going on Amos?” Ferrara asked.

      “The teleportation programming’s been altered,” Amos said. “We’re losing them.”

      “Get them back!” Connor yelled.

      “I can’t,” Ferrara said. “The controls aren’t responding.”

      Mariah and Tori vanished, and the controls stopped working again.

      “Where did they go?” Bonomi asked.

      “I don’t know,” Amos said. “The temporal scanners are down. I’ll get the other techs in here to help speed things up.”

      “Are they dead?” Connor asked.

      “Maybe,” Ferrara replied. “Or they could be alive anywhere or any time on Earth.”

      “Or they could be dead,” Bonomi said.

      “Yes,” Ferrara said, taking his hand. “I know what everyone’s feeling. But we have another immediate problem.”

      “Angelo and Pilo,” Garth said.

      Ferrara nodded. “They’re still here at ASU, looking to collect things to take back to the past.”

      “Do you know where they are?” Ruben asked.

      “Perhaps,” Ferrara said. “They said something about going to Biodesign, and going upstairs here.”

      “We need to get the scanners back up,” Garth said.

      “Working on it,” Amos said.

      “And the women,” Bonomi said.

      “I’m sorry,” Garth said. “But finding Angelo and Pilo takes priority.”

      “You don’t mean that,” Bonomi said.

      “I do,” Garth said.

      “Garth’s right, Bonomi,” Ruben said. “I know they’re our friends, but that can’t be a consideration right now.”

      Bonomi and Connor looked to Ferrara for support.

      “I’m sorry but I agree with Garth,” Ferrara said. “We’ll work on finding the ladies after we find the Novus Ordo agents.”

      Bonomi clenched his fists and left the room in disgust.

      “How did they breach security?” Garth asked.

      “I have no idea,” Ferrara said. “Before we knew it, they’d broken in and locked themselves in here.”

      “And the security guards?” Garth asked.

      “Overpowered,” Ferrara said. “They’re in the medical clinic now.”

      “Thank God you were able to get us back.” Ruben said.

      “And luck,” Ferrara said. “He didn’t shoot the part of the panel where I could access the emergency power circuits and the bullets did not hit the vital controls. We should have the medics check on you,” Ferrara said.

      “We’re fine,” Garth told her.

      “I wouldn’t mind an expert opinion,” Ruben said.

      Ferrara called the medical wing and requested assistance in the teleporter room. A moment later, Amos’ technicians showed up to help with the power.

      “Do you think Mariah and Tori are still alive?” Ruben asked.

      “I don’t know,” Ferrara said. “Either they were teleported to another time or location, or…”

      “They decayed out of existence,” Garth said.

      “If they survived,” Ruben said. “I hope the power failure wouldn’t cause them to materialize inside a solid object.”

      “Hopefully, the materialization safeties were still in force during the teleport,” Ferrara said.

      “Director,” Amos said. “I think we can scan the university.”

      “Do it,” Ferrara said.

      Amos turned the scanners on. “It’s working, but the range is limited.”

      “Where are they now?” Garth asked.

      Amos traced their TMDs. “They’re in the Noble Science Library.”

      “Good God,” Ruben said.

      “Can you jam their TMD signals?” Ferrara asked. “So they don’t teleport again.”

      “Working on it,” Amos replied. “I’m having some trouble here.”

      “Can you bring them back?” Garth asked. “We can lock them up here until we send them back to their time.”

      “I can’t” Ferrara replied.  “We don’t have enough power yet.”

      “Can they can teleport with those TMDs? “Ruben asked.

      “Yes,” Amos replied. “I need to get more power into the system before I can block them from teleporting.”

      “Ruben,” Garth said. “Go get some portable TMDs and stunners. We’ll go get them ourselves.”

      “Right,” Ruben said. He left the room to get the needed equipment.

      “Work on getting enough power to block their TMDs,” Ferrara said to Amos. “I can only block long range at the moment, so they’ll be confined to ASU.”

      “Yes Ma’am,” Amos said. “We’ll need a few minutes.”

      “Garth,” Ruben said, returning to the teleportation room. “I have the TMDs and stunners.”

      “Their power is at half capacity,” Garth said.

      “When they shot up the panel,” Amos said. “They hit the central power conduit that charges them. It may be touch and go using them for a while.”

      “Wonderful,” Garth said sarcastically.

      The medical crew came in and quickly examined Garth, Ruben, and Connor for signs of molecular decay. “They’re all fine, Director,” the Foundation doctor announced after scanning them.

      “Then let’s go,” Garth said.

      “What kind of force can we use?” Connor asked.

      “They can’t be harmed,” Garth said. “And neither can anyone else on campus. What time is it?”

      “7:17 p.m.,” Amos replied.

      “Hopefully the library won’t be too crowded,” Ruben said.

      “You okay coming with us, Bonomi?” Garth asked.

      “Yes, Colonel.”

      “Good,” Garth said. “Four against three is better.”

      “Bring them back here,” Ferrara said. “We’ll erase their memories of this and send them back where they came from. Amos, how long until the console is fixed?”

      “At least half an hour, Director.”

      Ferrara replied looked to Garth, Ruben, Bonomi, and Connor. “Good luck.”

      Connor activated his TMD, and the team teleported away.
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      November 19, 2024

      Noble Library, Arizona State University

      Tempe Arizona

      Breuner, Angelo and Pilo were awed by the technology in the Noble Science Library. The student librarian showed them how to use the computerized catalog and returned to her desk.

      “Look at the architecture of this place,” Breuner remarked. “Herr Speer would appreciate the detail.”

      “They even sell coffee here,” Pilo said. “They call it Starbucks. Do you think that’s because they first made it in space?”

      “I don’t know,” Angelo said. “But I’ll take Italian espresso over whatever the Americans make for coffee any day. Besides, would you buy fresh coffee in a library?”

      “No,” Pilo replied.

      “This is fantastic,” Breuner marveled. “Allowing people to use computers to look for books.”

      “And with no security clearance,” Angelo added. “Times have changed.”

      “What should we look for?” Pilo asked.

      Breuner typed in the word “aeronautics” and scrolled through the list. “Aeronautics first,” he said. “Then rocketry and missile guidance. Imagine the leaps we can make with this information. Pilo, use another computer and find out about this “Internet.””

      “Thank Grandfather we all read English,” Pilo said.

      “The Suzerain should be pleased with what we bring back,” Angelo said. “Think of what we could do with this information on our time.”

      “And change,” Pilo said.

      “Try looking up the Italian scientists you worked with,” Breuner suggested. “See what they did after the war.”

      Angelo set to work, while Breuner wrote down the call numbers of interesting titles.

      “My God,” Angelo whispered. “There really are books on Operation Corvo.”

      “How can that be?” Breuner said. “It was classified.”

      “Not anymore, apparently,” Angelo replied. “There’s a book here on Operation Marconi as well.”

      “What’s that?” Pilo asked.

      “An early attempt at a death ray,” Angelo told him. “It didn’t get very far.”

      “Perhaps we can make it work with newer technology,” Breuner suggested. “Write down the catalog numbers for the Corvo and Marconi books.”

      “But where do we find them?” Breuner said. “It doesn’t say on the computer.”

      “Ask the student again,” Angelo suggested. They returned to the student librarian.

      “Can I help you again, gentleman?” The student librarian asked.

      “Yes, Miss,” Breuner said. “We’re looking for these books.”

      The student librarian looked over their notes. “These are all on the third floor,” she said. “Just take the stairs or the elevator. There’s another student worker up there if you need any help.”

      “Thank you,” Breuner said. They took the stairs.

      A few minutes later, Garth, Ruben, Connor and Bonomi appeared at the service entrance behind the library. “You know,” Connor said, “it wouldn’t have taken that much longer to walk.”

      “Don’t be a smartass,” Garth said. “Ruben, does your scanner work?”

      “Just barely,” Ruben said. “Targets are on the third floor.”

      “Can you isolate them?” Bonomi asked.

      “Two of them,” Ruben replied. “The ones with TMDs.”

      “Okay,” Garth said. “Ruben and I will take the stairs. You two take the elevator.”

      “A pity we can’t just teleport inside,” Bonomi said.

      “Too many witnesses,” Garth told him. “We go in here.” He pulled out a magnetic keycard and opened the door. “It opens everything at ASU.”

      They entered the building and split up.

      On the third floor, Pilo found a small hardcover book on Operation Marconi, and brought it to Angelo.

      “Check inside,” Angelo said. ”When did the first experiments take place?”

      Pilo scanned the introduction. “It says 1936.”

      “Let’s set your device for that date,” Angelo said. “We may be able to steal documents that then build on the early work. Develop our own device.”

      “I could always get help from my organization in that time,” Pilo offered.

      Nearby, Connor and Bonomi stepped from the elevator and checked the stacks. They spotted Breuner, who was too busy collecting books to notice them.

      Connor moved down Breuner’s aisle, while Bonomi took the next one over. Connor fired his stunner but missed as Breuner turned away. Breuner dropped his books and went for his gun. Bonomi fired his stunner from the next aisle, hitting Breuner in the back.

      Breuner staggered forward and pulled the gun’s trigger.

      Connor fell to the floor, clutching his gut.

      Students fled at the sound of the gunshot. Someone pulled an alarm.

      Bonomi rushed to Connor and put pressure on the wound. Connor coughed up blood, while Breuner lay unconscious on the floor.

      “I always knew I’d be a red shirt,” Connor gasped.

      “Don’t say that,” Bonomi told him. “We’ll get you out of here and fixed up.”

      Connor passed out a moment later.

      Pilo and Angelo looked up at the sound of the gunshot. “Take the books you have,” Angelo said, “and use the device to get to 1936. I’ll get Breuner and join you.”

      “Leave him,” Pilo said.

      “We can’t have him captured. He’ll talk if they bend his finger. Now go.”

      “For Novus Ordo,” Pilo said, and disappeared.

      Garth and Ruben spotted Angelo, who took off at a run.

      “You go check on Bonomi and Connor,” Garth told Ruben. “I’ll go after him.”

      Ruben went to find Bonomi and Connor. A moment later, he saw Connor and Breuner on the floor, with Bonomi kneeling over them.  “I’ll get them to the Foundation,” he told Bonomi. “You help Garth go after Angelo and Pilo.”

      Ruben gave his scanner to Bonomi, then pressed his TMD. He, Connor and Breuner disappeared.

      Bonomi activated Ruben’s scanner and found Angelo and Garth’s biosignatures. He started down the indicated aisle, but when he came to the spot where Angelo should be, he found a TMD device on a bookshelf. “Clever bastard,” Bonomi said.

      Hands suddenly reached through a lower shelf and grabbed his legs, tripping him. A heartbeat later, Angelo dragged him into the next aisle and punched him in the face.

      Bonomi kicked Angelo away and jumped to his feet. Angelo grabbed a leg. “We have to stop meeting like this, Bonomi,” he said, and tripped him again.

      “You bastard,” Bonomi said. He rose again and shoved Angelo to the edge of an open space that dropped sixty five feet to the ground floor. “You killed Mariah and Tori.” He put his hands around Angelo’s throat.

      “I don’t think I did,” Angelo gasped. “Let me go.”

      “It’s judgment day for you.”

      Garth arrived and tried to pull Bonomi away. “Bonomi, stop! You can’t kill him.”

      “Fuck off,” Bonomi said.

      Garth pulled out his stunner and shot Bonomi, knocking him out.

      “Thank God,” Angelo said. “That would’ve been bad if—"

      Garth stunned Angelo as well.

      Two ASU security guards arrived with weapons drawn. “Stop and put your hands up!”

      Garth dropped to the floor and stunned one of the security guards, knocking him out.  The other fired at Garth but missed. Garth stunned her too, then took down an onrushing third guard.

      Garth programmed his TMD and glanced at Bonomi and Angelo. “Thank God I don’t have to carry you.” He pressed his TMD, and the three of them teleported away.
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      November 19, 2024

      Falcone Foundation Labs

      Arizona State University

      

      Ferrara, Ruben, Amos and four security guards eagerly waited for the teleportation to complete. Ferrara ordered, “Grab the Novus Ordo operatives and take them to a holding cell the second they materialize.”

      “Yes Director,” the head security guard said.

      They were stunned when the teleportation completed with Garth standing over the unconscious Angelo and Bonomi.

      “What happened?” Ferrrara asked.

      “I had to stun them,” Garth said.

      “Why?” Ferrara asked.

      “Bonomi was going to kill Angelo,” Garth said. “I couldn’t let that happen.”

      “I suppose,” Ruben said.

      Ferrara looked to the security guards. “Sergeant Escobar. You and another guard take them. Carry Angelo to a holding cell and guard him. Take Bonomi to a rest area.”

      “Yes Director,” Escobar said,

      The security guards carried Angelo and Bonomi away.

      “Where’s Breuner?” Garth asked.

      “In a holding cell,” Ruben said. “Still unconscious.”

      “And how’s Connor?”

      Ferrara and Ruben remained silent.

      “How’s Connor?” Garth asked again.

      “He didn’t make it,” Ferrara said.

      “Damn,” Garth said. “It’s a cruel irony that a criminal like Breuner gets another 27 years, and Connor won’t reach 27.”

      “It is,” Ferrara said. “It’s a shame we can’t turn Cohen loose on Breuner now.”

      “I agree,” Ruben said.

      “I’m sorry to interrupt, Director,” Amos said. “But we’ve been able to restore power to the temporal scanners.”

      “Excellent,” Ruben said. “Can you locate the women?”

      “Give me a moment to look,” Amos said. “What the hell?”

      “What?” Ferrara asked.

      “Mariah and Francesca are in 1936 Florence, Italy. So’s Pilo.”

      “Francesca,” Garth said. “What the fuck is she doing there?”

      “And Tori” Ruben asked.

      “In 1943 Voltri,” Amos replied.

      “How did Mariah and Tori wind up in two different time zones?” Ruben asked. “And what’s Francesca doing in 1936 Florence?”

      “I don’t know sir,” Amos said, looking at the computer records. “Hold on, that’s odd… There seems be a preprogrammed instruction from 2007. That’s what sent them away just before all the business with the Novus Ordo agents. The system grabbed Francesca and diverted her and the others. Also, Noah. I mean Pitto.”

      “Can you find Noah on the temporal scanners?” Ferrara asked.

      “Who put the bug in the software?” Garth asked.

      “I can answer that,” said a voice from the doorway. They turned to see Grey Branch Director Mason Stein. Noah, the one from 1945, walked beside him. “Hello,” Noah said.

      “Mason,” Ferrara said. “What are you doing here?”

      “I’m sorry about the awkwardness, Jana,” said Stein. “But this is now a Grey Branch matter. Project Jigsaw is under my supervision, and all of you are temporarily assigned to me.”

      “Assigned by who” Ferrara asked.

      “By Dr. Bernadette Falcone.”

      “Impossible,” Ferrara said. “She retired five years ago.”

      “And she gave me this directive fifteen years ago,” Stein replied. He gave Ferrara a DVD disk.

      Ferrara put it in a laptop, and a 71-year-old Bernadette appeared on the screen. “Director Ferrara, per article three, clause twelve of the Falcone Foundation Charter, General Mason Stein is taking charge of Project Jigsaw. This Is absolutely no reflection on the superb job you’ve been doing. It’s just that the mission parameters now require Grey Branch Involvement. Give General Stein your full cooperation from this moment forward. Good luck.”

      The screen went dark.

      “Satisfied?” Stein asked.

      “Totally,” Ferrara replied.

      “Well, I’m not,” Noah said. “What the hell is going on? I was with Francesca about to visit Mrs. Pitto when we get teleported. Then the next thing I see is this guy. He tells me to come with him to get Francesca. Where is she?”

      “1936 Florence,” Ferrara said.

      “What the fuck is she doing there?” Noah asked. “And what’s Grey Branch.”

      “We are sorry for the confusion Noah,” Stein said. “Grey Branch is the division of the Foundation that makes sure all the ugly events in history occur as they were meant to.”

      “So, you were in charge of the mission that prevented the assassinations of Hitler, Mussolini, and Franco?” Noah asked.

      “No,” Stein replied. “Your branch prevents the bad things in history from happening.  We ensure the bad things in history happen. Things like plagues, World Wars, presidential assassinations…”

      “So, no happy endings at your branch?” Noah asked.

      “Afraid not,” Stein said. “Reality must remain reality.”

      “So, what’s the mission now?” Ruben asked.

      “There are two,” Stein told them. “The first is in 1936, where Bonomi and Noah will join Mariah and Francesca to stop Pilo from stealing Operation Marconi.”

      “What is Operation Marconi?” Garth asked.

      “The same scientists who worked on Corvo,” Stein said, “were also working on a prototype death ray.”

      “No kidding,” Noah said. “This is so Flash Gordon serial stuff.”

      “It’s true,” Stein said. “And you four are tasked with stopping its development.”

      “What else?” Noah asked.

      “You have to keep the Saberstein and Klein families in Italy after the German and Italian alliance is declared.”

      “ I won’t be part of that,” Noah told Stein. “We’d be condemning Rene and Bernadette’s parents to death in 1944.”

      “You already have been,” Stein told him. “It’s already happened. And it will happen again.”

      “You know,” Noah said, “I’m getting sick of having to make these choices.”

      “There are no choices here, Signore Pitto,” Stein said. “There is only preserving the timeline.”

      “You’re not going to give me that line about the greater good?” Noah asked.

      “Isn’t preserving our reality working for the greater good?” Stein asked.

      Noah had no answer for that.

      “Continue, Mason,” Ferrara said.

      “Ruben will assist Tori and the 1943 version of Luchese in Voltri for the second mission.”

      “To what end?’” Ruben asked.

      “You’ll help Luchese pass false information to the Axis, on the invasion of Sicily. From his perspective, Luchese just left you in Siena.”

      “He did?” Ruben asked.

      “Well, it hasn’t happened for you yet.”

      “These sound like routine operations for my division,” Ferrara said. “Why is Grey Branch needed for the 1943 mission?”

      “I’m sorry,” Stein said. “That’s need-to-know for now. Garth will be seconded to me for the remainder of this mission.”

      “Back at Grey Branch,” Garth said. “Joy.”

      “Okay,” Ferrara said. “Let’s get the first two teams fully briefed and send them on their way.”
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      October 23, 1936

      Santa Croce Church

      Florence, Italy

      

      Mariah found herself lying on a concrete roadway.

      “Mona,” a familiar voice said.

      Mariah saw Francesca and stood up. “Lavonia.” They hugged and cheek kissed. “Where’s Noah?” Mariah asked.

      “He was with me a few moments ago. We were about to see his, Pitto’s mother when we were teleported away. I wound up here.”

      “Me, Tori, Garth, Connor, and Ruben were on the teleporter pad,” Mariah said. “Coming back from when we last saw you in 1945.”

      “That was months ago for me,” Francesca said.

      “Time Travel,” Mariah said. “Nothing’s in sync.”

      “Where are we?” Francesca asked.

      The women looked around. Mint-condition Mussolini and Fascist posters were plastered on nearby buildings. “Definitely during Mussolini’s reign,” Francesca said.

      Mariah recognized the church to her right. “That’s Santa Croce.”

      “We’re in Florence? What are we doing here?”

      “I don’t know,” Mariah said. “But I see some familiar faces at the café across the street.”

      Francesca looked and saw Spada, Lorenzo, Klein, and another man conversing outside a cafe. “Oh shit,” she said. “When are we now?”

      “It’s like full circle,” Mariah said.

      

      June 9, 1943

      Voltri, Italy

      

      Tori woke up in a grassy park. She stretched her arms and legs. “What the hell kind of teleport was that?” She pulled herself up and glanced around. The area looked like Voltri. The teleporter must still be out of whack.

      “Signorina are you alright?” a young man asked in Italian.

      Tori turned and instantly thought it was Noah in front of her. She smiled and started to say his name but she hesitated and   thought for a moment. He sounds different and there’s no scar on his face.

      She responded in Italian. “I’m a little disoriented. What is your name Signore?”

      “Carmelo, Signorina.”

      “Carmelo Pitto?” Tori asked.

      “Si, Signorina,” Pitto replied. “Do I know you? Are you alright?”

      Just then, Francesca and Bonomi came into the park. Bonomi wore a police sergeants’ uniform. “Carmelo,” Francesca said. “Is everything alright?”

      “I don’t know,” Pitto replied. “This young lady was lying unconscious on the ground.”

      “We should take her to the hospital,” Bonomi said.

      “No,” Tori said, realizing she was in World War Two Voltri. She struggled to remember more Italian. “I’ll be okay.” She hugged Carmelo and kissed him on the cheek. “Thank you for being so concerned… Take me to Giotto.”

      Pitto stepped back, stunned. Then he took her hand. “I’ll take her to a doctor.”

      “Okay,” Bonomi said. “Call me if you two need any help.”

      “I will,” Pitto replied, and led Tori away. “Who are you?” he asked. “American Intelligence? Your Italian is awful.”

      “I can’t say,” Tori said. “But I must contact Giotto.”
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      October 23, 1936

      Santa Croce Church

      Florence, Italy

      

      Francesca and Mariah loitered near the café and tried to eavesdrop on the scientists’ conversation.

      “Saberstein,” Lorenzo said. “Are we ready to do a test on the prototype?”

      “Yes,” Sabestein replied. “We should be able to test the Marconi Device on the Fiat later this afternoon.”

      “And Corvo?” Spada asked.

      “Once we confirm the water supply to the turbines,” Klein said, “we should be able to start with the inanimate objects.”

      “Excellent,” Spada replied. “We should get to the lab.”

      “Yes,” Lorenzo said. “If the tests go well today, I’ll buy gelato for the whole crew at Vivoli’s.”

      “Excellent,” Saberstein said. “Rene likes their gelato. Oh shit, I forgot my notebook.”

      “Well,” Lorenzo said. “Go get it and meet us at the lab.”

      The scientists rose and left the café. Three of them walked toward Santa Croce. Saberstein headed home.

      Francesca and Mariah watched them go, then followed the scientists from a safe distance. “This can’t be a coincidence,” Mariah said. “Us being here at the same time they are.”

      “I agree,” Francesca said. “So that one is Rene and Bernadette’s father.”

      “It seems so,” Mariah replied.

      “Why are the others going to the church?” Francesca asked.

      “Their lab is underneath it.”

      “How do you know that?”

      “Because that is where our Italian Falcone Foundation headquarters will be,” Mariah said.

      “Another coincidence,” Francesca said.

      “No,” Mariah said. “Bernadette knew about the Florence lab and moved the Foundation headquarters there in the 50s.”

      “Do you know how to get in?”

      “She showed me how to get in.”

      “Great foresight on her part.”

      “Yeah,” Mariah said. “Let’s hope we can get past their security.” They crossed the street to Santa Croce. A tall man fell in behind them. “You realize we’re being followed,” Mariah whispered.

      “The man in the blue suit,” Francesca said. “Some instincts never go away. I noticed him watching the scientists at the café from across the street.”

      “What should we do with him?” Mariah asked,

      “If this were the Resistance, I would just snap his neck.”

      “Tempting,” Mariah replied. “But probably too conspicuous. Follow me. We’ll lead him away from the lab entrance.”
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      June 9, 1943

      Voltri, Italy

      

      Tori and Pitto walked toward the Church of San Nicholas and Erasmus. “So, how do you know my real name?” Pitto asked. “I thought American Intelligence only had our code names.”

      “We know everything, Solari,” Tori replied. “So, you’re taking me to Father Virgillo.”

      “Yes,” Pitto said. “He can contact Giotto for you.”

      “I know.”

      They went inside. Pitto led her to Virgillo’s office and motioned her to sit down.

      “It’s okay,” Tori said. “I’d rather stand.”

      “I’ll be right back with the Father.”

      Tori smiled and walked around the office. She liked the book selection on Virgilio’s shelves. All classics.

      A few moments later, Pitto returned with Father Virgillo and a nun. “I understand you need my help, child,” Virgillo said.

      “Yes, Father,” Tori replied, moving past the nun to shake Virgillo’s hand. She then spun around and grabbed the nun’s extended hand, which held a cloth doused with chloroform. She slapped the nun and pushed her onto a chair. “Sorry,” Tori said, smiling. “I hope I won’t burn in hell for that.”

      “Oh,” said the nun said, smiling back. “You might be sorry later.”

      Tori smiled back at the nun and turned to Father Virgillo. “Where was I. Oh yes, I need to contact Giotto.”

      “Indeed,” Giotto said, stepping into the office. “And how can I help you, Miss…?”

      “At the Foundation, they just call me Tori.”

      Giotto looked to the nun. “Are you all right?”

      “Yes,” Caterina/Elisabetta replied. “She’s good.”

      “Well with the training she’s probably received,” Giotto said, “I’m not surprised.”

      “You know her, sir?” Pitto asked.

      “No,” Giotto replied. “But I know the American Intelligence agency she’s with. Good work, Solari.”

      “Thank you, sir.”

      “We won’t keep you anymore Father,” Giotto said. “Let’s go. Elisabetta, blindfold her. I’m sure you’ll understand.”

      “I won’t resist this time.”

      “Pity,” Elisabetta said. “I would have welcomed another opportunity to handle you.”
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      October 23, 1936

      Santa Croce Church

      Florence Italy

      

      Mariah and Francesca stood in Santa Croce Church, surveying the tombs of Michelangelo, Galileo, and Machiavelli. “I sometimes think,” Mariah said, “that being here in front of such intellectual giants is more awe-inspiring than being at the Sistine Chapel in Rome, or the Academia with David.”

      “I see what you mean,” Francesca said. They walked toward the Bardi and Peruzzi Chapels.

      “Have you been here before?” Mariah asked.

      “Once after communion, when my parents took me here on a trip.”

      “Do you remember the Giotto frescoes?” Mariah asked.

      “Not really,” Francesca replied as they came to the chapels.

      “Ah,” Mariah said. “They’re very powerful. Giotto was one of the forerunners of the Renaissance Masters. Is that man still behind us?”

      “He’s coming over from the tombs,” Francesca said.

      “We’ll lead him outside to the First Cloister,” Mariah said. “And then back outside the church. Do you have any idea what we do with him?”

      “I told you my ideas,” Francesca said. “You got squeamish.”

      “I think we should do something less fatal.”

      “You’re no fun,” Francesca said.

      They walked into the First Cloister, an outside rest and walking area with grass and marble benches. “It really is very pretty,” Francesca said. They left the Cloister area for the exit outside the church.

      The man followed as they crossed the street and headed back to the café. “Shit,” Mariah said. “Look who’s coming back.”

      Saberstein was heading for the underground lab at Santa Croce. The man in the blue suit saw him as well, and smiled at the two ladies when they made eye contact with him. He started following Saberstein.

      “We can’t let him find the entrance to the lab,” Mariah said, and ran after the stranger. Francesca joined her. Mariah got there first and tackled the man.

      An Italian policeman saw the commotion and yelled at the three of them. Saberstein turned and saw Mariah beating on the man. “He was following you,” Francesca said. “Run.”

      Saberstein turned and ran to the Church entrance. “Let’s get out of here,” Mariah said. She and Francesca ran toward the road leading to the Piazza Della Signorina.

      The policeman came to the man and helped him up. “Are you alright Signore?”

      “Yes,” he replied. “Just a little scratched up. We got into a fight. Thank you for your help.”

      “Do you want me to contact help and go after them?”

      “No officer. I’ll handle this.”

      “Very well sir but I would advise having the lover’s quarrels at home from now on.”

      “That’s a good idea,” the man said. “I shouldn’t take on two of them next time.”

      The officer laughed.

      “Thank you again, officer.” The man walked to the café across the street, and made a call from the phone booth inside. “It’s Fabrizo,” he said. “I tried to follow to the entrance, but two women got in the way… One was blonde, the other brunette. I didn’t hear their names… Very well. I’ll see if I can track them down. I’ll need a few more people…. Thank you.” He hung up and left the café, taking the street street his attackers had run down.

      Mariah spotted a gelato bar. “Let’s go in here and see if that policeman walks past.” They went inside and took a table.

      “What can I get for you ladies?” the owner asked.

      The women realized they had no money from the period. Francesca said, “We’re sorry sir but…”

      “They’re with me, Aldo,” said a pregnant woman pushing a stroller with a crying baby inside. “We’ll get three coffees first.”

      “Si, Signora Saberstein,” the owner said. “And how is little Rene today?”

      Francesca and Mariah fixed their eyes on Rene.

      “Starting to teethe,” Signora Saberstein said, and pulled up a chair. “I need something cold for him too, a lemon gelato.”

      “Right away, Signora.” The owner went to get their order.

      “I saw you two stop that man from following my husband. Why was he doing that?”
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      June 8, 1943 Voltri

      Resistance headquarters

      

      Tori was taken to Giottos “office” in the resistance headquarters. “Elisabetta,” Giotto said. “Keep the blindfold on her and leave us.”

      “You don’t want me to stay and keep an eye on her?”

      “I’ll be fine,” Giotto replied, taking out his revolver.

      “Call me if you need me.”

      Elisabetta left the room. Giotto waited a moment before speaking. “We’re alone,” he said at length. “Identify yourself.”

      “Victoria Jacobsen, sir. I work at the Foundation ASU branch.”

      “From when?”

      “2024, sir.”

      “That’s not my point of origin. What are you doing here? What’s your mission?”

      “I don’t have one, sir,” Tori replied. “As best I can figure, I’m here because of a teleporter accident. Do you by chance have a TMD I can use to get back?”

      “No. Those permanently assigned to the field don’t get the modern tools.”

      “Shit. I was afraid of that. When do Garth, Ruben or Cohen check in?”

      “Should be soon. They’ll be able to take you back when they get here.”

      “What do I do in the meantime?”

      “Stay out of the way,” Giotto said, and took off the blindfold. “I’ll treat you as a contact with the Allies, and assign you a code name.” He opened the door. Elisabetta stood a few feet away. “Please get Solari.”

      A few minutes later, Elisabetta returned with Solari.

      “Solari,” Giotto said, “this is Sofonisba. She’ll be with us for a little while. Get her situated and keep her out of trouble.”

      “Yes, sir,” Solari said. “Please come with me, Sofonisba.”

      “Actually,” Tori said. “Could we go with Sofi?”

      Giotto nodded.

      “Come with me, Sofi.”

      Tori smiled, and followed Solari from the room.

      “Are you crazy?” Elisabetta asked, after shutting the door behind Sofonisba and Solari. “She hasn’t been fully vetted and tested.”

      “I understand what you’re saying,” Giotto said. “But I can vouch for her. She’s from a unit associated with the Allies.”

      “Really, which one?”

      “Don’t get jealous. You know I can’t be specific.”

      “She’d better not be an old girlfriend,” Elisabetta said.

      “She isn’t.” Giotto took hold of Elisabetta and kissed her. “Don’t worry. It will all work out and we’ll be a great example of a Justice and Liberty Brigade.”

      “I hope you’re right.” She pushed Giotto onto the table and kissed him again.

      “Is the door locked, Honey?” Giotto asked.

      “It is.”

      “Well we can take a break,” Giotto said. “The Resistance can survive for 15, 20 minutes without us.”

      “is that all you can last for today?” Elisabetta asked.

      “Time will tell.”
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      June 9, 1943

      Voltri, Italy

      

      Bonomi was at his desk, working on the arrest report for the town drunk he’d arrested last night.

      “How’s the report coming?” Commander Alberto asked.

      “Almost done, sir,” Bonomi replied. “I wonder if I can leave after I finish it.”

      “You want to take Francesca out to an early dinner?”

      “How’d you know?”

      “I’m your police commander,” Alberto said. “Credit me with some intuitive skills.”

      Bonomi smiled.

      “I’ll be in my office,” Alberto said. “You can go when you’re done.”

      “Thank you, sir,” Bonomi said.

      A car pulled up in front of the station, with three men inside. A Black Brigade Major stepped from the back and came inside. Bonomi suspected he wouldn’t be leaving early after all. “Can I help you, Major?” he asked.

      “Yes, Sergeant. I am Major Angelo and I need to talk with your commander.”

      “I’ll get him for you.”

      A moment later, Commander Alberto was shaking Angelo’s hand. “Can I help you Major Angelo?”

      “Thank you, Commander,” Angelo said. “My people are starting to settle in the area but they’re not all here yet. We’ve received a report of a possible spy in the area, and I wonder if I might borrow one of your men to assist in the apprehension.”

      “Of course,” Alberto said. “Take my Sergeant here. He’ll serve you well. You have your orders, Bonomi.”

      “Yes sir.”

      “Excellent,” Angelo said. “Be sure to bring your weapon, Sergeant. We don’t know what we’re up against.”

      Half an hour later, Angelo’s car arrived outside an abandoned cottage. “Quaint little hut,” Angelo remarked.

      “Who exactly is in there?” Bonomi asked.

      “A spy for the Allies, who supposedly has information on their invasion plans for Italy.”

      “Just him?” Bonomi asked.

      “As far as I know,” Angelo said.  “Piero take the back. Arturo, take the side window on the north side of the house. Bonomi, you go to the front door and knock on it. I’ll be right behind you.”

      “Yes Major.”

      Bonomi placed his hand on his holster and knocked on the door. There was no response. Angelo motioned for Bonomi to break in. Bonomi drew his gun and kicked the door open.

      A half-naked, teenage boy was inside. “Don’t shoot!” he cried out.

      Bonomi grabbed him and pulled him from the cottage.

      Angelo loomed over the boy. “Not who I was looking for,” Angelo said. “Bonomi, search him. Arturo, check the cottage. See if anyone’s hiding.”

      “Yes, Major.” Arturo said.

      Bonomi searched the boy. “He’s not carrying anything, Major,” Bonomi said.

      “Who are you?” Angelo asked the boy.

      “Felipe, sir.”

      “Well, Felipe,” Angelo said. “What were you doing in that hut?”

      “Just resting sir,” Felipe replied.

      “Just resting,” Angelo repeated. “You weren’t waiting for anyone?”

      “No, sir.”

      ‘Let’s take him to headquarters for questioning,” Angelo said.

      Arturo came out of the cottage holding a shirt. “Nothing else in there sir except the boy’s shirt.”

      “Very well,” Angelo said. “Burn the cottage.”

      “Yes sir,” Arturo said.

      “NO!” the boy yelled.

      “Hold it,” Angelo ordered. “What’s wrong, Felipe?”

      The boy trembled with fear, and started to cry. “My girlfriend is in there.”

      “My aide didn’t see anyone,” Angelo said. “Burn it.”

      Felipe started toward the cottage.

      “Piero,” Angelo said.

      Piero took out his revolver and shot the boy in the leg.

      “Let’s check inside together,” Angelo said. “Watch the boy Piero.”

      When they searched the cottage, Bonomi noticed a misplaced rug. He pulled at it, revealing a a trap door .

      “Careful,” Angelo said. “Our objective could be down there.”

      Angelo motioned for Arturo to open the door while he and Bonomi aimed their weapons. Felipe’s girlfriend cowered below, crying. “Where’s Felipe?” she asked. “My father will kill him if he finds out we’re here.”

      “Piero,” Angelo said. “Take the girl and put her in the car with the boy. We’ll question them at headquarters. We need to get a doctor to. Arturo, do a better job now of looking this place over.”

      “Yes, Major,” Arturo said.

      “And follow up with your contact,” Angelo said. “The information was faulty.”

      “The source did say the timing was unclear,” Arturo said.

      “See what you can find out,” Angelo said.

      Piero grabbed the girl and pulled her toward the car. She saw Felipe in agony bleeding from his leg. She started to hysterically wail.

      “Oh God,” Bonomi said. “What have we done?”

      “Our duty to the Duce and Italy, Sergeant,” Angelo said. “If the boy was honest with us, he might not have been shot. Stupid idiot.”

      “Forbidden love does that,” Bonomi said.

      “Well, experiencing getting shot will persuade them to tell us if they’re involved with the spy.”

      “Who is this spy, Major?” Bonomi asked.

      “He’s a Sicilian who goes by the code name Lo Spirito. Reports say he’s coming to this area.”

      Arturo emerged from the cottage. “There’s nothing else, sir. I swear it.”

      “Alright. Piero will stay here to watch the place in case Lo Spirito appears. Remember Piero. I want him alive. Do not shoot unless you have no choice.”

      “Yes Major.”

      “Thank you for your assistance today Sergeant Bonomi. You served the country and Fascism well.  I’ll put in a good word with your commander.”

      “Thank you, sir,” Bonomi said. He couldn’t keep his eyes off the girl and her injured boyfriend.
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      October 23, 1936

      Florence Italy

      

      Mrs. Saberstein told Mariah and Francesca to call her Lydia. She bought gelatos for everyone. They all chose chocolate, except for Rene, who had lemon.

      “The man wasn’t following your husband,” Mariah said. “He tried to rob us, and then he turned his attentions toward your husband.”

      “Oh,” Lydia said.

      “What other reason could there be?” Francesca asked.

      “I don’t know if I should say.”

      “You can trust us, Lydia,” Mariah said. “We’re not Fascist intelligence.”

      “I should just take your word for it?”

      “You trusted us enough to follow us here and buy us gelato,” Francesca said. “You took a leap of faith there.”

      “Maybe.”

      “Talk to us,” Mariah said.

      “We’ve been worried,” Lydia said. “With the talks between the Germans and the Italians about what that would mean for the Jews and Zionists in Italy.”

      “What do you mean?” Francesca asked.

      “We don’t trust the Germans. Hitler is vile and sadistic. He’s made his feelings known about Jews and other minority groups.”

      After Rene finished his gelato, Francesca rolled the stroller back and forth to lull him to sleep

      “You’re good with him,” Lydia said.

      “Thank you,” Francesca said. “He’s a lovely baby.”

      “When he’s sleeping. His brother or sister in here is very active as well.”

      “Do you know what you’ll name your second child?” Mariah asked.

      “We’re thinking Bernardo if it’s a boy, and Bernadette if it’s a girl.”

      “Good choices,” Mariah replied. “You were talking about your worries.”

      “Yes, Frederick and I have talked about going home to his university post in Tel Aviv. Klein too, though he wonders if he can bring his girlfriend with him.”

      “What’s stopping you?” Francesca asked.

      “Oh, their supervisors keep telling them that their worries are unfounded. That Mussolini can deal with Hitler, and the Germans would prefer the Jews be sent to Palestine.”

      “Do your husband and Klein trust their supervisors?” Mariah asked.

      “They do,” Mrs. Saberstein said. “They’ve worked together for a couple of years now.”

      “They’re probably right.” Mariah said, keeping her face expressionless. Francesca winced.

      “I suppose,” Mrs. Saberstein said. “Our families had to endure Russian, Ukrainian, Lithuanian and Polish pogroms before and after the war. It’s hard for us to feel secure anywhere but home.”

      “Tel Aviv,” Francesca said.

      “Yes.”

      “Can we join you ladies?” Bonomi asked, coming in with Noah.

      “Oh God,” Mariah said, and jumped up from her chair to hug and kiss Bonomi. Francesca did the same with Noah, whispering “What’ going on?”

      “We’ll tell you soon,” Noah said.

      Francesca saw the redness under his eyes. “What’s wrong?”

      “I’ll tell you later,” Noah said.  “Who’s your new friend?”

      “This is Lydia…Saberstein,” Francesca said. “With her sleeping baby boy Rene.”

      “Really,” Noah said. “He’s a beautiful baby, Signora.”

      “Thank you, Signore.”

      “It is a pleasure to meet you Signora,” Bonomi said.

      “Same here,” Lydia said. “Would you like to join us?”

      “We love to,” Bonomi said. “But we’re running late, and we have an appointment with a jeweler on the rings.”

      “Yes,” Mariah said. “We’re getting married in a double ceremony.”

      “Mazeltov,” Lydia said. “Well, I have to get hm home as well. Rene needs to take a sleep in his crip.”

      Lydia rose from her seat and took the stroller holding little Rene. “It was a pleasure to meet you ladies. Thank you again for helping my husband, and for listening.”

      “Our pleasure,” Francesca said. “Hopefully we’ll meet again, with your husband.”

      “That would be lovely,” Lydia said. “Ciao.”

      After Mrs. Saberstein left the gelato bar, Noah and Bonomi turned towards their fiancées.

      “What did she mean?” Noah asked. “How did you help her husband?”

      “We’ll explain,” Mariah said. “But we should leave like we told her.”

      “What’s going on?” Francesca asked. “What are we doing here?”

      “We’ll explain,” Bonomi said. “The Foundation has a safe house on the other side of the Ponte Vecchio.”

      “Okay,” Mariah said. “Let’s teleport over.”

      “We can’t right now,” Bonomi said. “The TMD’s need to charge up for a little while.”

      “I guess we’ll walk,” Mariah said. “The Ponte Vecchio’s always crowded, and no one will pay attention to us there. It’ll be a short trip.”
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      June 9, 1943

      Voltri, Italy

      

      Bonomi knocked on Francesca’s apartment door. He was still distraught about the murder at the cottage.

      Signora Toscani answered the door. “Paolo. How good to see you.”

      “Thank you Signora Toscani. May I come in?”

      “Of course, and don’t call me Signora Toscani. Call me Ma Ma.”

      Bonomi came in and went to the living room.

      “Francesca will be out in a moment. She’s almost ready.”

      “Great.”

      “I’m so glad she found such a strong man and devoted servant to the state. It’s men like you that will help push back the Allies.”

      “Thank you for the kind words Sig…scusi, Ma Ma.”

      Francesca stepped from her bedroom and smiled. She took Bonomi’s hand and kissed him, then looked to her mother. “I won’t be too late Ma Ma.”

      “Have a good time my dears.”

      Bonomi walked Francesca down the stairs. “Your mother really likes me.”

      “You can do no wrong in her eyes,” Francesca said.

      Bonomi took Francesca to a nice fish dinner at one of the restaurants overlooking the beach. Afterward, they walked along the streets of Voltri, holding hands and talking about what happened earlier in the day. “He was so caviler,” Bonomi said of Angelo. “He didn’t care about shooting that scared boy. He only looked at it as a failed operation to serve the needs of the state.”

      “He’s an intelligence agent,” Francesca said. “Isn’t that how they’re supposed to think?”

      “Up to a point, yes, but this man wasn’t human. He was a thug. I have to admit, after watching what happened, I started to have doubts.”

      “Doubts about what?” Francesca asked.

      Bonomi lowered his voice to a whisper. “Whether we’re on the right side in this war.”

      “Don’t talk like that, my darling,” Francesca said. “Don’t even think it. You can get into trouble.”

      “And what you said just now just gives me more doubt. Why should we be afraid to question injustice?”

      “Because this is war, and we don’t live in a free country.”

      “Agh, you don’t understand.” He let go of her hand and walked away.

      “Paolo…”

      She caught up to him and gave him a hug. “I’m sorry, let’s go to your apartment and talk some more. I promise to be more open-minded.”

      “Okay.”

      Along the way, they heard a commotion by a nearby café. “I should see what’s going on,” Bonomi said. “Stay here.” He ran toward the café and saw a frightened waiter running toward him. “What’s wrong?” Bonomi asked.

      The waiter tried to run around him.

      A shot rang out, and the waiter fell to the ground. Bonomi knelt beside him to see if he could help. The man was dead.

      Francesca arrived at his side. “What happened?” she asked.

      “Someone shot him in the back,” Bonomi said, and looked toward the café. His commander and Major Angelo strode toward him.

      “We meet again so soon, Sergeant Bonomi,” said Angelo. “And who is your lovely companion?”

      A cold chill went through Francesca at the sight of Angelo. She wondered if he was the man they’d been talking about a few moments before.

      “I know this man,” Bonomi said. “Why did you kill him?”

      “Are you questioning us, Sergeant?” Angelo asked. “That sounds insubordinate and rather independent.”

      “No, Major,” the Commander said. “He’s just surprised that this man was an enemy of the state.”

      “A waiter,” Francesca said.

      “Enemies of the state can work any occupation, Signorina,” Angelo said. “Or be any gender.”

      Bonomi rose and glared at Angelo.

      “You’re off duty, Paolo,” the commander said. “Take Francesca home and get a good night’s rest. We’ll talk in the morning.”

      “Yes sir.” Bonomi turned and took Francesca’s hand. “Let’s go.”

      “It was good to see you again, Sergeant,” Angelo said. “And a pleasure to meet you, Francesca.”

      A shiver went up Francesca’s back. “I know what you mean now about him. Take me to your apartment. I want to be with you tonight.”

      Solari sat at an outdoor table, sipping coffee. He saw the waiter get shot, and watched Francesca and Bonomi walk past. He rose from the table and walked the other way. Five minutes later, he entered the underground Resistance headquarters and found Giotto. “The contact is dead,” Solari told him. “Some Fascist Major shot him in the street.”

      “Damn,” Giotto said. “He was our only contact with Lo Spirito.”

      “What do we do now?” Solari asked.

      “Let me think,” Giotto said. “The rendezvous is in an hour. Get me Sofi.”

      “Yes sir.”

      A few moments later, Tori/Sofi came in with Solari.

      “Solari, leave us and close the door.” Once they were alone, Giotto asked, “Do you know Lo Spirito?”

      “Luchese, yes, from after this  time period.”

      “Thank God. I need your help.”

      “I’m not sure I can get involved. I don’t belong here.”

      “I understand your concern, but we have a rendezvous with him in less than an hour, and the person who was supposed to go with Solari fell deathly ill and cannot make it.

      “Not very devoted to the cause.”

      “These things happen. You just need to get him and bring him back here. It’s foolproof.”

      “I don’t understand. Don’t you just identify each other with a password and an article of clothing?”

      “Yes, but we want to make sure we’re meeting the right person and not a Fascist agent.”

      “That doesn’t sound foolproof.”

      “We’re desperate. He supposedly has information vital to the war effort, and he needs our help to get it to the proper authorities.”

      “There are still the Guardian rules. I’m not sure I should get involved.”

      “How do you know you weren’t meant to come here?”

      “You mean what if the Foundation sent me on a mission without telling me about it?”

      “It wouldn’t be the first time.”

      “What if we create a paradox?”

      “We could debate this forever.  Will you go?”

      “Who would take me?”

      “Solari.”

      “All right but just this once.”

      “Solari!” Giotto yelled.

      A moment later, Solari opened the door and came inside.

      “A positive development,” Giotto said. “Sofi knows what Lo Spirito looks like and will go with you to the rendezvous.”

      “Wonderful,” Solari said. “Should I give her a…”

      “Yes,” Giotto said. “Give her a pistol.”

      “Come with me,” Solari said. “We leave in half an hour.”

      “Good luck,” Giotto said.

      “Thank you,” Tori said.
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      October 23, 1936

      The stairs of the Loggia dei Lanzi at the Piazza Della Signorina

      Florence, Italy

      

      Mariah could not  stop crying over the death of Connor. Noah teared up as well. Francesca and Bonomi tried to comfort them.

      “I’m sorry my love,” Bonomi said.

      “Connor was a good friend,” Mariah said.

      “He, Josh and I were like the Three Musketeers,” Noah said.

      “He always had my back at the Foundation,” Mariah said.

      “He had a crush on you,” Noah said.

      “He did?” Mariah asked. “When?”

      “Tenth grade,” Noah replied.

      “He was an obnoxious twit in tenth grade,” Mariah said.

      “That was his way of trying to impress you,” Noah said. “Josh and I told him he was doing it wrong. Then he fell for Tori.”

      “That explains things,” Mariah said. “He always seemed to be around her at the lab, even when they didn’t have assignments.”

      “Are you okay my love?” Francesca asked Noah.

      “I’ll be all right,” Noah said, and kissed her hand.

      “I’m sorry Mariah,” Bonomi said, “but we have to go.”

      “You’re right,” Mariah said.

      Francesca, Mariah, Bonomi and Noah resumed their walk to the Ponte Vecchio.

      “So much history has taken place here,” Noah said,

      “It actually seems more picturesque in 1936,” Mariah said.

      “It does,” Noah said. “But the great Renaissance masters, philosophers, and political titans walked here. And right over there is where Savonarola and his followers were burned alive.”

      When they neared the Ponte Vecchio, Francesca noticed two men, dressed in dark clothing, on motorbikes watching them. “I think we’ve got admirers,” she whispered. “Over there.”

      “Let’s get on the bridge and lose them,” Noah said.

      “We should probably hide in one of the shops,” Mariah said. “Until we can use the TMDs.”

      “That works too,” Francesca said.

      The men on the bikes followed them onto the Ponte Vecchio Bridge. “We should split up,” Noah said.

      “No,” Bonomi said. “We need to be together when we can use the TMDs. “

      “Let’s go into that leather shop,” Francesca said.

      They stepped into Toscani’s Leather and pretended to browse the merchandise. The men on the bikes stopped outside, gazing through the front window.

      “How long until we can teleport?” Mariah asked.

      “Soon,” Bonomi said after looking at his TMD. “But we should be at a place where no people are around.”

      The store owner came over and asked if he could help them find anything

      “No Signore,” Francesca said. “We’re just looking right now.”

      “Very good Signora,” the owner said. “But be quick. I have a small store and a lot of people come in looking at the merchandise.”

      Francesca nodded. Mariah picked up a satchel. “This would actually be good for you, Honey,” she said to Bonomi.

      Bonomi shook his head.

      The store owner kept glaring at them, expecting them to purchase something.

      The two bikers were hassled by passersbys about blocking the bridge pathway and moved a short distance down the street toward the other end of the Ponte Vecchio.

      “Well,” Mariah said. “That’s not good. They’re blocking our path.”

      “Do we go back to the Piazza?” Noah asked. “And then wait to use the TMDs?”

      “That works,” Bonomi said, “Let’s go.” They left the store, much to the annoyance of the owner, and hurried back toward the Piazza Della Signorina.

      The cyclists turned around and rode after them and accelerated their speed.

      “Fuck this,” Noah said. “I’m sick of running from these bastards.” He scooped up a stray piece of plywood from a construction site just outside the Ponte Vecchio.

      The cyclists continued to accelerate and steered to run Noah and the others down. As they approached, Noah swung like a baseball batter and smacked one of them across the face with the plywood. The man fell off the bike, which crashed into an outdoor cafe table. Mariah, Francesca, and Bonomi jumped out of the way of the other cyclist who rode off.

      “My hero,” Francesca said to Noah as she hugged and kissed him.

      Mariah and Bonomi looked over the man on the ground. “I wonder who he is,” Francesca said.

      “Let’s find out before the police get here,” Mariah said.

      Mariah and Bonomi examined the unconscious man.

      “He doesn’t have any ID on him,” Bonomi said.

      Mariah pulled his right shirt sleeve up, revealing a tattoo.

      “Novus Ordo,” Mariah said. “Pilo must have reached them.”

      The other cyclist rode into the Piazza Della Signorina and toward the Uffizzi Gallery. He stopped beside Fabrizo.

      “Where’s your partner?’ Fabrizo asked.

      “Unavailable. They got away.”

      “Novus Ordo does not tolerate failure,” Fabrizo said. He jabbed a needle into the man’s neck. “Pleasant dreams,” he said, and walked away.

      A moment later, the biker fell to the ground, dead.
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      June 9, 1943

      Voltri, Italy

      

      Solari and Tori walked to the rendezvous on the outskirts of Voltri, and waited for Lo Spirito. “Where are you from?” Tori asked.

      “Genoa. My parents think I enlisted in the army.”

      “Why did you lie to them?”

      “To protect them. Where are you from in America?”

      “Arizona.”

      “I hear it gets hot there during the summer.”

      “You heard right, though it’s not as humid as it is here.”

      “Have you ever been to the Grand Canyon?” Solari asked.

      “A couple of times,” Tori replied. “Very picturesque. Where have you traveled?”

      “Greece, Spain, Yugoslavia, France. When the war’s over, I want to teach history and geography to children.”

      “That’s very nice.”

      “What about you?” Solari asked. “What do you want to do after the war?”

      “I haven’t really thought that far ahead.”

      A moment later, they saw someone approaching. “That might be him,” Solari said.

      “We’ll find out soon enough.”

      “Quick, let’s seem like a couple.” He drew her close and kissed her.

      “It’s a good thing for you the other guy couldn’t make it,” Tori said, and kissed him back with passion.

      “You’re doing a good job playing the part,” Solari said.

      “Who’s playing?” Tori asked.

      The man walked up and smiled, pulling out a cigarette. “Excuse me, do you have a match?”

      “I’m sorry,” Tori said. “We don’t smoke.”

      “I’m sorry to interrupt you two,” the man said. “Thank you anyway.” He walked off, toward Voltri.

      Solari whispered to Tori, “Why didn’t you let me say the other part of the password?’

      “He’s not Lo Spirito.”

      “How do you know?”

      “Because she knows what he looks like,” Ruben, coming up behind them.

      Solari stepped in front of Tori.

      “It’s all right,” Tori said. “He’s with me.”

      “You’re American Intelligence too?”

      “Yes,” Ruben replied. “Have you made contact with Lo Spirito?”

      “No,” Tori said. “But that man seemed to know the password.”

      “Could be coincidence,” Ruben said.

      “Or it could have been a trap,” Solari said.

      “Maybe,” Tori said.

      “Or,” Luchese said, stepping from a dark corner, “it could be a way to avoid getting trapped.”

      “You always were an insecure bastard Lo Spirito,” Ruben said, hugging Luchese. “It’s good to see you.”

      “You too,” Luchese said. “When was the last time?”

      “From your perspective,” Ruben said. “A month ago, in Palermo.”

      “Who was the man asking for a light?” Solari asked.

      “Someone I gave a few lire to size you two up.”

      “That was taking a chance,” Tori said. “How do you know he wasn’t a Fascist spy?”

      “Then he would have been taken care of,” Luchese said, sticking a hand in his pocket where his weapon was. He looked Tori over. “I heard you tell your boyfriend here that you know what I look like. Have we met before?”

      “Yes,” Tori said.

      “She’s one of my operatives,” Ruben said.

      “Oh, you’re with my friend here,” Luchese said. “I don’t know how your branch of American Intelligence keeps everything straight, Ruben.”

      “It can get confusing sometimes,” Ruben said.

      “We should go,” Tori said.

      “She’s right,” Solari agreed. “Follow me.”

      They headed for Resistance headquarters. “Do we leave once we’ve delivered Luchese to the Resistance?” Tori asked Ruben.

      “No,” Ruben said. “We have a mission to complete.”
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      October 23, 1936

      The Safe House in Florence

      

      Mariah, Francesca, Noah and Bonomi relaxed in the safe house on the southwest side of the Ponte Vecchio.

      “Should we have left that guy unconscious on the ground?” Noah asked.

      “What should we have done with him?” Bonomi asked. “We’d been stuck watching over him. We have important things to do.”

      Francesca was not pleased with Bonomi’s tone. “Be nice Paolo.”

      “I am being nice,” Bonomi said. He turned to Mariah. “Aren’t I being nice?”

      “Well, you still need to tone it down a little.”

      Noah grinned.

      Flustered, Bonomi mumbled, “I’m getting it from both of them.”

      “Better you than me,” Noah said.

      “Maybe we should discuss the plan again,” Francesca said.

      “Great idea,” Mariah said, looking to Bonomi. “Go on.”

      Bonomi nodded. “I think the best thing to do would be to teleport into the lab after the scientists and assistants have gone home. Then we steal the device and destroy any records or drawings that could help them rebuild it.”

      “That’s assuming everyone goes home at the same time,” Francesca said.

      “We have stunners,” Bonomi said. “If anyone gets in the way, we knock them out.”

      “Did the Foundation give any clues as to how we’re supposed to do this?” Mariah asked.

      “They did give us a map to the place on the scanners,” Bonomi said.

      “Going in at night makes sense,” Mariah said. “Hopefully, most of them will have gone home.”

      “Hopefully,” Francesca said. “I don’t like people being there, even if we do have stunners.”

      “Let’s set a time,” Mariah said. “Midnight?”

      “That works,” Noah said.

      “Do we split up to get the device and records, or stick together?” Francesca asked.

      “Splitting up makes sense,” Bonomi said.

      “So,” Francesca said, “Mariah and I go for the records, while you and Noah find the device?”

      Mariah nodded. “Anything else to discuss.”

      “There’s still the other problem,” Francesca said. “We have to convince the Sabersteins and Kleins to stay In Italy.”

      “They’re supposed to stay in Italy,” Bonomi said.

      “We understand that,” Francesca said. “But we didn’t think we we’d have to convince them ourselves.”

      “You’ve softened up,” Bonomi said.

      “The war’s over,” Francesca said.

      “Technically, it hasn’t begun yet,” Bonomi said.

      “Don’t be a smartass,” Francesca said. “I don’t like that we’re the reason Rene and Bernadette become orphans.”

      “I’ve already had that discussion,” Noah said. “And we still got elected to do this.”

      “Maybe we won’t be the ones to convince them,” Mariah suggested.

      “Wishful thinking,” Francesca said.

      “One thing at a time,” Bonomi said. “Let’s familiarize ourselves with the layout first.”

      Fifteen minutes later, Francesca, Mariah, Bonomi and Noah teleported from the safe house into a storeroom in the lab beneath Santa Croce.

      “This room is still here in our time,” Mariah said. “It’s where the Xerox copier is.”

      “The one that always jams and takes forever to fix,” Bonomi said.

      “Okay,” Mariah said, “according to the map on the scanners, the records are a couple of rooms down. Francesca and I will check that out while you two sabotage the death ray device. Then we rendezvous and teleport to the hideout.”

      “Good luck,” Francesca said.

      Noah eased the door open and peered down the corridor. There was no one there. “Let’s go,” he whispered. The team slipped into the hall and split up.

      Francesca and Mariah found the records room and went inside. “According to the Foundation information,” Mariah said, “the drawings should be in this file cabinet.”

      “It’s locked,” Francesca said.

      “I’ll take care of that.” Mariah broke the lock and opened the file drawer.

      “You’ve gotten good at this,” Francesca said.

      “I remember you training me.”

      “Oh God, yes,” Francesca said. “You didn’t know it, but I was just grateful the Resistance found a recruit who was worse than I was when I started out.”

      “Bonomi said Elisabetta had fun training you. She’s so impatient.”

      “Motherhood has helped her there. Have you found the files?”

      “The whole draw is death ray files.”

      “Let me check the other ones.”

      Francesca pulled the second and then the third draws open and examined the contents. “Here’s something interesting… Preliminary designs for a solar battery to power streetlights in Tel Aviv. What fantasy. One battery.”

      “Let me see that,” Mariah said. “Saberstein drew this.” She folded the drawing and put it in her boot.

      “Is it important?” Francesca asked.

      “Not for this time period,” Mariah said. “Anything about the death ray in the other two cabinets?”

      “No.”

      “Okay, let’s destroy the stuff in the top one then.”

      They emptied the file drawer into a wastebasket. Mariah lit a match and was about to drop it in the can when a man appeared in the doorway, holding a revolver. “Don’t do that if you want to live,” he said.

      Mariah put out the match.

      The man stepped inside. A second man followed. “Come with us,” the first man said. “And bring the wastebasket.”

      Bonomi and Noah paused inside the large room housing the death ray. There were scientists inside, huddled around the Marconi Death Ray Device. There were others there, too; they had the look of government officials. Bonomi pulled Noah behind a lab counter before anyone spotted them.

      “What do we do now?” Noah asked.

      “Find a better place to hide until they’re gone.”

      “I don’t think so,” Pilo said, coming through the door behind them. He was flanked by Fabrizo and another Novus Ordo operative. “Take custody of them.”

      “What the hell is this?” an Italian military officer asked.

      “We’re taking charge of your operation,” Pilo replied.

      “I am Captain Merretti and I’m the military liaison to this project. On whose authority are you taking over?”

      “This,” Pilo said, and shot him. The captain fell to the floor. Spada went to help him. “You’ll be all right.”

      “Of course, he will,” Pilo said. “If I’d wanted to kill him, he’d be dead. Does anyone else here question my authority?”

      “No,” Lorenzo announced.

      “Good,” Pilo said. “Follow my orders and you’ll be treated well.”

      “Yes sir,” Lorenzo said.

      “My first order is for you to bring me the Marconi Device.”

      “Sforza,” Lorenzo said. “Get it for him.”

      “Yes Director,” Sforza said.

      The two other Novus Ordo operatives entered the room with Mariah and Francesca. shoving them toward Bonomi and Noah.

      “We caught them just before they were going to burn the records, my Lord.”

      “Excellent,” Pilo said. “Thank you, ladies, for leading us here. My operatives were able to watch the scientists and staff enter this facility and figure out how to enter. Now with these books I took from your library and all the technological treats in here, Novus Ordo will finally create the new order I have dreamed of.”

      “Excuse me sir,” Fabrizo said. “This person said he’s an envoy of the German government.”

      Mariah and Noah instantly recognized him film of his Israeli trial in the 1960’s.

      “Who are you?” Pilo asked.

      “My name is Adolf Eichman, and I demand to be released at once.”

      Sforza came in with the Marconi Device. Noah thought it looked like a ray gun from the old Flash Gordon serials. He gave it to Pilo, who looked it over. “Has it been tested?” Pilo asked.

      “Yes sir,” Sforza replied.  “Results vary depending on the object.”

      Pilo aimed the device at Eichmann. “Let’s see how it works on humans.”
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      June 9, 1943

      Voltri, Italy

      

      Luchese, Ruben and Tori met Giotto in his office at Resistance headquarters. “I’ll be busy for a little while,” Giotto told Solari. “Tell Elisabetta we’re not to be disturbed.”

      “Yes Giotto.”

      Giotto locked the door and shook hands with Ruben. “It’s good to see you again, sir.”

      “And you too.”

      “And it’s a great pleasure to meet you, Lo Spirto,” Giotto said. I learned a lot about the missions you and Ruben completed, during my training.”

      “Thank you,” Luchese said. “So, you know why I’m here?”

      “No,” Giotto said, “They held that part back.”

      “Italian Intelligence knows you’re here,” Tori told Luchese.

      “Yes, I know. I leaked it when I started on my way here.”

      “You did what?” Giotto said. “Your original contact is dead because of what you did and an innocent boy was shot in the leg who was protecting his girlfriend.”

      “Say what?” Tori asked. “You said the contact was ill.”

      “And he was,” Giotto said. “Sick from death.”

      “I’m sorry Giotto,” Luchese said. “Very unfortunate and unintended. You should know and expect these things to happen. This could actually work in our favor.”

      “How?” Giotto asked.

      “Do you know why I’m here?” Luchese asked Ruben.

      “Yes,” Ruben said. “To spread disinformation to the Axis about the Allied Invasion of Sicily.”

      “Yes,” Luchese said. “The Allies have already planted several plants for the Axis to find, including a dead body with a fake identity. Intelligence feels the more reinforcement of the disinformation, the better.”

      “All right,” Giotto said. “How do you expect my cell to help?”

      “We need to make it seem like the Axis had to work hard and sacrifice a lot to get this information,” Luchese said. “They’ll believe it more if it was obtained that way.”

      “How many more people do you want me to sacrifice?” Giotto asked.

      “I don’t know yet,” Luchese said. “We have to plan.”

      “You don’t have a plan yet?” Ruben asked,

      “I have a basic idea, but I wanted to see what the situation was on the ground. I’ll need you to tell me everything you can about your cell without compromising security, including who we can ask to go on this mission.”

      “You mean send to die?” Giotto asked.

      “Yes,” Luchese replied.

      Outside the room, a shadowy figure moved down the dark hall with a grenade.

      Inside, Ruben asked, “When do you need the Italians to get this information?”

      “The sooner the better,” Luchese replied.

      “Okay,” Giotto said. “Let’s get some dinner and then come back here and plan.”

      “Good idea,” Luchese said.

      Everyone walked toward the office door. They then heard what sounded like the firing of a gun with a silencer.

      “What the hell,” Giotto said as he opened the door.

      A live grenade dropped on the floor and rolled into the room.

      “Holy shit,” Tori said.

      The room blew up.
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      October 23, 1936

      Operation Corvo Lab Underneath Santa Croce Cathedral.

      Florence, Italy

      Pilo smiled at Eichmann.

      Mariah and Noah traded glances. Neither wanted to defend Eichmann. Noah was about to say something when Pilo fired the Marconi Device. There was a low-pitched hum, but nothing happened.

      Pilo was aghast. “What the hell kind of death ray is this?”

      “At the moment,” Lorenzo said. “it neutralizes devices that operate electronically, but doesn’t affect people”

      “So any device that functions on electronics could be damaged or shut down?” Pilo asked.

      “Yes sir,” Sforza replied.

      Pilo drew his pistol and looked to Eichmann. “Some things must be done the old-fashioned way.”

      “STOP!” Noah yelled.  He hit Pilo’s shoulder, and the shot went wide.

      One of Pilo’s men smacked Noah with a rifle butt, knocking him down. Another moved to shoot him.

      “NO!” Francesca yelled, and stepped in front of Noah.

      “Stop,” Pilo ordered his men. He looked to Francesca. “You love him that much? I think that’s very admirable. Now let’s see if he feels the same way about you.”

      Pilo knelt beside Noah. “You people think you have a God-given right to determine destiny. You would even save a murderer of millions to preserve your precious timeline. But would you let him die to save the woman you love?”

      Pilo removed the bullets from his pistol, leaving only one. Then he pulled Noah to his feet and gave him the gun. “Fabrizo, his woman.”

      Fabrizo aimed his gun at Francesca.

      “Now,” Pilo said to Noah. “Shoot Eichmann and the woman lives… Don’t even think about shooting Fabrizo or me. My other men will kill you all.”

      Noah trained the gun on Eichmann, who started trembling.

      “I’ll love you no matter what you do,” Francesca said to Noah.

      Tears streamed down Noah’s face.

      “The patriotic voice of the Resistance,” Pilo said. “You have five seconds, Signore. One… Two...”

      A shot rang out, and one of Pilo’s men fell. Noah’s gun remained silent.

      “What the hell?” Pilo said.

      Fascist soldiers penetrated the underground lab and attacked Pilo’s men.

      Noah shot Fabrizo in the arm. Fabrizo dropped his gun.

      The scientists hid behind lab tables as the soldiers stormed the building. “Thank God,” Bonomi said, and pulled out his TMD. “The Fascists are here to rescue us.”

      Pilo bolted from the room with the Marconi Device, leaving his men behind.

      Captain Merretti, still on the floor and being tended by Spada, ordered the soldiers to go after Pilo.

      “Let’s get out of here while we can,” Mariah said. She and the others ran down the hall—and into Pilo, who still held the Marconi device. He grabbed Francesca by the throat. “I’m afraid you’re not safe yet, my dear,” he said. “Take me too.”

      The Fascist soldiers ran down the hall after all of them.

      “I’ll break her neck right now if you don’t take me,” Pilo told the others. “And the soldiers will catch the rest of you.”

      “Take him,” Noah said.

      Bonomi pressed the TMD, and the five of them dematerialized just before the soldiers came into view.

      The soldiers captured Fabrizo and the other survivors of Pilo’s band. “Take them into custody,” Merretti ordered. “Have our intelligence specialists interrogate them.”

      Noah’s group materialized with Pilo in front of Santa Croce Cathedral.  Noah moved to grab Francesca.

      “You want her to die right here?” Pilo said as he tightened his grip on Francesca’s throat.

      Noah stopped.

      “Good choice,” Pilo said. “I wonder what choice you would have made in the lab, before we were so rudely interrupted… Thank you for bringing me to my trucks.”

      “Stop this insanity,” Bonomi said. “You can’t change events, and nothing good will come from trying.”

      “The words of an inferior mind,” Pilo said. “It hasn’t been a wasted trip. I have a new toy, and I still have those books hidden in a safe place. I’ll also have this lovely lady as company for the journey ahead.”

      Pilo moved to the nearest truck and put Francesca in the passenger seat. He pulled a revolver from the glove compartment and slipped behind the wheel, keeping his gun on Francesca the whole time. He put the Marconi Device on the seat between them and drove off.

      Mariah lookd to Noah. “Don’t worry. We can track them by scanning Francesca’s biosignature.”

      Pilo drove with one hand, his gun in the other. Francesca felt around beside her and found a loose piece of seat liner. She peeled it off and folded it until it was sharp—then lunged at Pilo. He tried to shoot her, but she swatted his hand aside as he fired and the bullet went through the windshield. Francesca stabbed Pilo’s hand, and the gun fell to the floor. She reached for the Marconi Device.

      Pilo shoved her away, stomped the brake and reached for the gun. Francesca opened the door and dove out the passenger side as Pilo fired again, missing.

      Francesca rolled to a stop on the shoulder, then jumped up and ran back to Noah and the others as Pilo sped off.

      Noah embraced Francesca, kissing her.

      “I couldn’t get the device,” Francesca said.

      “it’s all right,” Noah said. “As long as you’re safe.”

      “Let’s teleport into that truck,” Mariah said. “Nobody’s around to see us.”

      Bonomi pulled out his TMD. “Shit, it needs to charge again.” Noah checked his. “Mine too.”

      “You know what this means?” Bonomi said.

      “We have to go to Luchese.” Mariah said. “The one who lives in Florence right now.”

      Bonomi nodded. “Stein said Luchese would be in his country home in Fiesole. Not far from here.”

      “Oh shit,” Mariah said. “The schematics for the Marconi Device are still in the lab. We have to get them.”

      “It’ll have to wait for now,” Bonomi said. He led the way to the other truck and looked inside. The key was in the ignition. He took the driver’s seat, and the others squeezed in beside him.

      “On to Fiesole,” Bonomi said.
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      June 9, 1943

      Voltri, Italy

      

      Dust was all over the place after the cave in from the explosion in Giotto’s office.

      Tori, Giotto, Ruben, and Luchese just barely escaped the explosion of the grenade by using Ruben’s TMD that quickly moved them out of the office to the hallway just outside it. Everyone fell to the floor to avoid the debris from the blast.

      Tori stood up first. She coughed  and looked around. She saw Giotto’s office totally buried in rubble.

      “Jesus Christ,” she said.

      Luchese started to pull himself up. Tori grabbed his hand and pulled him up the rest of the way.”

      “Are you okay?” She asked.

      “Never better for a man my age,” Luchese said, looking toward Ruben. “Are you well?”

      “Yes,” Ruben said, looking at the destroyed office and holding up his TMD. “These do come in handy.”

      Everyone saw Giotto still lying on the floor. Ruben went to him and tried to wake him by shaking him.

      “He can’t be dead,” Tori said.

      “No, he’s just unconscious,” Ruben said. “Wake up Giotto.”

      A moment later, Giotto moved and looked up at Tori and Ruben’s faces. He smiled. “Thank God for TMD’s.”

      Giotto stood up and looked at the caved-in office. “This site has been compromised. We have to get the other cell members and go.”

      Tori, Giotto, Ruben and Luchese pulled out their pistols and went to the commons area. They found the rest of the cell dead on the floor, their blood seeping out through bullet wounds.

      Oh my God,” Tori said.

      “We need to check them,” Ruben said. “And make sure they’re all dead.”

      They examined the bodies. Giotto found Elisabetta and knelt beside her. He pulled her body close. “Elisabetta,” he whispered. “My shining light, what will I do without you?”

      “Giotto,” Elisabetta said.

      Giotto pushed Elisabetta back. She smiled at him but seemed disoriented.

      “Thank God you’re still alive,” Giotto said.

      “I wouldn’t have been had I not been in back of Mario,” Elisabetta said. “He took the bullet meant for me.”

      “Did you see what happened?” Giotto asked.

      “No,” Elisabetta said. ”I wasn’t looking in that direction and it happened so fast. Help get me up.”

      Giotto pulled her up and they had a brief romantic embrace and kissed each other.

      “Giotto,” Luchese said. “Solari’s alive.”

      Luchese pulled him up. Like Elisabetta, he seemed disoriented. A bullet had grazed his rib cage.

      “Let me see that,” Tori said, pulling up his shirt. “Just a scratch. I’ll put some alcohol on it.”

      “It’s just you and Elisabetta,” Ruben said. “The rest are dead. Did you see what happened?”

      “A dark-hooded man came in and opened fire,” Solari said. “He used a silencer.”

      “That must have been what we heard just before the explosion in the office,” Ruben said.

      “He tried to blow up the office?” Elisabetta asked.

      “Yes,” Tori replied. “But we got out just In time.”

      “Thank God,” Solari said, smiling at Tori who smiled back at him.

      “Elisabetta,” Giotto said, “Bandage Solari’s wound, then the two of you gather what supplies you can. We leave in ten minutes.”

      Elisabetta took Solari to the first aid kit, leaving Giotto with Tori, Luchese and Ruben. “Tori,” Ruben said. “Watch for their return.”

      “You may have a problem, Giotto,” Luchese said.

      “What are you talking about?” Tori asked.

      “Come on,” Luchese said. “You really think someone just walked in here, did all this and walked out?”

      “What else could it be?” Tori asked. “Are you saying Solari lied? That he was in on it?”

      “Maybe,” Luchese said. “And not just him.”

      “You mean Elisabetta and Solari?” Giotto asked. “Are you kidding?”

      “No,” Luchese replied. “You have to consider that either or both of them may be traitors.”

      “Luchese’s right,” Ruben said. “It could be both. You can’t be sure.”

      “But Elisabetta—”

      “Your feelings for her don’t put her above suspicion,” Luchese said. “You don’t know how many friends and lovers I’ve had to kill over the centuries.”

      “Damn it,” Giotto said. “Bernadette and Garth couldn’t tell me which Resistance members were traitors.”

      “We’re in the dark as well,” Ruben hastened to add.

      “We may not have the luxury of finding out before moving forward,” Luchese pointed out. “I say we kill them both right now, just to be safe.”

      “No,” Ruben said. “We need to know what happened, and who it was.”

      “If you think that best,” Luchese said.

      “I do.”

      “Agreed,” Giotto said. “We’ll decide how to root them out after we get situated at the church.”

      Moments later, Elisabetta and Solari returned with the supplies.

      “How are you feeling?” Tori asked Solari.

      “I’ll be fine.”

      “Let me help you with that,” Giotto said to Elisabetta, taking some of the supplies. “Solari, are you okay with what you have?”

      “I’ll help him,” Luchese said. “Lead the way.”

      Elisabetta, Giotto, Luchese and Solari walked ahead of Tori and Ruben.

      “What the hell were you talking about back there?” Tori whispered. “You know Elisabetta and Solari aren’t traitors.”

      “No, I don’t.” Ruben said. “And neither do you.”
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      October 24, 1936

      Fiesole, Italy

      A suburb of Florence

      

      Francesca, Mariah, Bonomi and Noah left the truck in front of Luchese’s villa in Fiesole and walked toward the front entrance. There was a half-moon as the evening of October 23 became the morning of the 24th. It was enough light to see by. “What I don’t understand,” Francesca said, “is we just saw Luchese yesterday in 1945. You’d think he would have said something, considering all this has already happened to him.”

      “He couldn’t,” Mariah said. “Preserving the timeline.”

      “Still fucking annoying,” Francesca said.

      They found the front pathway to the villa. Bonomi and Noah motioned the women to stay where they were, then dropped to the ground and crawled forward. “He said it would be about twenty feet in,” Bonomi said. “Here it is.” He cut a thin piece of taut string that crossed the pathway. “That should do it,” Bonomi said.

      They stood, and Noah motioned for the women to join them.

      “Have the stunners ready in case there’s a problem,” Bonomi said, and the four of them approached the villa’s front door. They were about ten yards away when Mariah fell to the ground. “I’m hit in the leg,” she said.

      The others aimed their stunners in all directions as Mariah passed out.

      “Where did the shot come from?” Francesca asked, then felt a pain in her left arm. “I’m hit too.” She fell to the ground and blacked out.

      Noah fired his stunner blindly. He felt a pinch at his neck. “Fuck. They got me too.” He slumped to the ground. Bonomi searched for a target, until he felt a sharp pain in his back. He around and removed a small dart. At least they wouldn’t die. He hoped. The last thing he heard was a male voice saying, “Get them inside and tell Lo Spirito.”

      A few hours later, the team members woke on couches in the library/study, with sunlight beating on their faces. There was a table with hot coffee and breakfast.

      “I love the smell of that coffee,” Mariah said. “Why can’t all prison cells be like this?”

      “Where are we?” Noah asked.

      “You’re in my home, Signore Noah,” Luchese said, walking in.

      “Well, this beats the caves of Sicily,” Noah said.

      “I agree,” Luchese said. They shook hands and hugged.

      “It’s good to see you again,” Francesca said.

      “It is wonderful to see you again Signora Francesca. It’s been 76 years.”

      “It’s only been a couple of days for us,” Francesca said.

      “Really,” Luchese said. “You both look good.”

      Francesca smiled. “You too. Why the darts?”

      “I have an elaborate security system,” Luchese said. “It’s just been enhanced. I can’t be too careful. I’m sorry for the less-than-warm welcome, but you did come unannounced.”

      “We understand,” Francesca said.

      “Who are your two friends?” Luchese asked.

      “This is Mariah, and Bonomi.”

      “Good to see you again Lo Spirito,” Mariah said.

      “Have we met,” Luchese said. “I always remember a pretty face.”

      Mariah smiled. “It hasn’t happened for you yet.”

      “I see. I thought that meeting out of temporal order only happened with Ruben. Anyway, welcome to my home. Please, eat and drink, and we’ll talk about why you’re here.”

      “Let’s have a working breakfast,” Mariah said. “We need your help.”

      “We have a lot to tell you,” Noah said.

      “Hold on,” Bonomi said, searching his pockets. “Where are our TMDs and stunners?”

      “In a safe place,” Pilo said, coming into the room. “It seems my teleporter device stopped working, so I needed another.”

      “What’s he doing here?” Francesca asked.

      “He’s my brother,” Luchese said. “I couldn’t turn him away.”

      “You’re right,” Noah told Francesca. “It Is fucking annoying.”

      “He’s the reason for the enhanced security?” Mariah asked.

      “Yes,” Luchese said. “Pilo said there were people coming to kill me.”

      “Luchese,” Bonomi said. “You can’t trust him.”

      “What did you do with our TMDs?” Mariah asked.

      “I’ll show you,” Pilo replied, then shouted, “Bring them!”

      “Brother,” Luchese said. “What have you done?”

      “Changed our destiny,” Pilo replied. A moment later, Fabrizo and the other guards brought in the Marconi Device, the schematic drawings, and Saberstein, Klein, Spada and Lorenzo. Pilo beamed. “Reality now belongs to Novus Ordo.”
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      June 10, 1943

      The Church of San Nicholas and Erasmus

      Voltri, Italy

      

      What was left of the Resistance Cell made its way to the lower chambers of the Church of San Nicholas and Erasmus, carrying what supplies they could. Father Virgillo said they would be safe in the underground chambers for now, but would have to find new headquarters soon.

      Giotto sent Elisabetta and Solari home, saying he would contact them when it was safe. After Solari left, Elisabetta tried to comfort Giotto. He smiled and kissed her gently. “Thanks darling,” he said. “But I’ll be all right. Go home and we’ll straighten things out here.”

      “Okay,” Elisabetta said. “We’ll continue this when you contact me.”

      “I’ll clear my schedule.”

      Elisabetta smiled and left the cell.

      Giotto went into Luchese and Ruben’s chamber to see if they needed anything. Tori joined them from her quarters. Father Virgillo arrived a few minutes later. “I wish we had the people to follow them,” Giotto said.

      “Later,” Luchese said. “First let’s see if we have a traitor.”

      “How long do you figure we have before the Fascists show up?” Tori asked.

      “No more than twenty minutes,” Giotto said. “We’ll go to the new location. Thank you, Father.”

      “God be with you my son,” Virgillo said. He made the sign of the cross, then took his leave.

      “How do you know he isn’t one of them?” Tori asked Giotto.

      “We don’t,” Giotto said. “But he doesn’t know where we’re going.”

      The four of them packed the belongs and left.

      “Hold on,” Ruben said.”I have an idea.”

      Half an hour later, Angelo’s subordinate Arturo showed up with Bonomi. “Sergeant Bonomi,” Virgillo said. “How can I help you?”

      “We’re sorry to disturb you Father,” Bonomi said. “We were informed that you may have loiterers in the underground chambers.”

      “Loiterers,” Virgillo said. “I don’t think so, but I’ll take you down for a look.”

      “Thank you, Father,” Bonomi said.

      Virgillo led them to the lower chambers. “You stay here, Father,” Bonomi said, “while we search the rooms.”

      Virgillo reached under his robe to rest a hand on his pistol.

      Bonomi and Arturo returned a few minutes later. “Must have been a false alarm,” Bonomi said. “We’re sorry to have taken your time Father.”

      “Think nothing more of it, my son. I’ll walk you two out.” Bonomi paused by the exit. “Thank you for coming and investigating, gentlemen,” Virgillo said. “It’s comforting to know that you’re looking out for our safety here in the church.

      “Our pleasure, Father,” Bonomi said, and offered a hand.

      Virgillo shook it, and felt a small object on his palm. Bonomi leaned close. “Tell the owner I want in,” he said.

      Virgillo closed the door and glanced down at the lipstick capsule in his hand.

      Outside, Arturo was fuming. “We should have arrested the priest.”

      “What good would that have done, Captain?” Bonomi said. “Your contact was obviously mistaken.”

      Virgillo joined Tori, Giotto, Ruben, and Luchese on the top of the Church roof.

      “Well, we do have a traitor,” Giotto said from the church roof. “Better to keep out of sight for a few days, Virgillo.”

      “No argument there,” Virgillo said. “Oh, and here’s your lipstick, young lady.”

      “Oh shit,” Tori said. “Please excuse my language, Father.”

      “No need to apologize.”

      “You dropped your lipstick?” Giotto asked.

      “I’m sorry,” Tori said.

      “This may be,” Virgillo said, “forgive the pun, a blessing in disguise. You may have a new recruit with the police officer.”

      “Maybe,” Giotto said. “I’ve heard good things about him.”

      “We still have the small matter of the traitor,” Luchese said.

      “We need to find out which one it is,” Giotto said.

      “I still say kill them both,” Luchese said.

      “Not the best long-term thinking my friend,” Ruben said. “We can use this to our advantage.”

      “How so?” Luchese asked.

      “A test,” Tori said.

      “Exactly,” Ruben said.

      “We just had a test,” Luchese said. “At least one of those two failed.”

      “But this test can advance your mission,” Ruben said

      “How?” Luchese asked.

      “I’ll explain when we get to the new headquarters.”

      Luchese gave a less than enthusiastic facial expression, conveying doubt.

      “Trust me,” Ruben said. “Have I ever led you astray?”

      “Well, there was that time with the women on…”

      “I thought you were over that.”

      “Enough,” Giotto said. “Let’s get to the new headquarters and plan.”

      Ruben looked to Luchese. “This will also be a way to see if Sergeant Bonomi would be a worthy asset to the cause.”

      “Oh,” Luchese said, “I see what you mean.”
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      October 26, 1936

      Fiesole, Italy

      Luchese’s Villa

      

      Pilo ordered the guards to take the scientists to another room.

      “Brother,” Luchese said. “I thought you were done with Novus Ordo.”

      “The version of me from this time had given up.”

      “This time?” Luchese asked.

      “This Pilo is your brother from 1945,” Noah explained.

      “Nine years in the future,” Luchese said. “You shouldn’t be here.”

      “You’re wrong, Brother,” Pilo said. “This is providence. I am going to create the New Order I always dreamed of. Join me and you can be at my side. We’ll rule over our grandfather’s toys together. The same with the others of our kind that are still alive.”

      “Toys,” Mariah said.

      “Yes,” Pilo snapped. “Had our Father wanted humanity to be immortal, he would have made you so. Your breed is nothing more than an amusement to him. You’re not worthy to rule over each other.”

      “And you are?” Bonomi asked.

      “Of course,” Pilo replied. “We are the superior race. We deserve to rule.”

      “Rule or lead, Brother?” Luchese asked.

      “Rule,” Pilo replied. “But don’t think I’ll be like this totalitarian scum in Italy, Germany, or Russia. In my order, there will be no death camps, no forced labor, no extermination of what they call the lesser races.”

      “As long as we consent to be ruled by you and your ilk?” Francesca asked.

      “Yes,” Pilo said. “The Nephilim are the truly enlightened race.”

      “And would we be free to go into the career we want?” Noah asked. “Or marry the people we love? Or live the life we choose?”

      “There would be standards to abide by,” Pilo said. “But the New Order would be structured and safe.”

      “But not free,” Mariah said.

      “That concept is overrated, my dear,” Pilo told her. “It glorifies individualism rather than the whole.”

      “I prefer compromise, like that offered in a republic,” Bonomi said.

      Pilo laughed. “Republics don’t last. Rome proved that. They decay from within, wither away, and die. No, a benevolent dictator or enlightened despot is optimal, with an aristocracy of specialist advisors.”

      “Like those last,” Mariah quipped, “or work.”

      “How Napoleonic,” Noah added.

      “Point made,” Mariah said.

      “We actually counseled him in the beginning, behind the scenes,” Pilo said.

      “Yes,” Luchese said. “Until he saw us as a threat and his men tried to kill us. Brother, this dream of yours is doomed to eventual failure.”

      “Not with the technology I’ve acquired,” Pilo said. “This time we’ll prevail.” He grabbed hold of the Marconi Device that he had laid by the door to the room. “This death ray can neutralize electronic machinery. I’ll have those scientists alter it to neutralize humans as well. I have teleportation devices and can travel into the past and future. We can bring back more technology that can change the world the way we want it.”

      “Not necessarily,” Bonomi said. “When you change events here, you create a temporary alternate reality, where the events that happened in that history book you stole may never happen at all.”

      “I’ll take that chance,” Pilo said.

      “It won’t work,” Mariah told him. “Alternate realities are unstable; time bubbles and paradoxes eventually pop.”

      “And what are you going to do with your other self?” Noah asked. “The one that lives in 1936? He may have his own ideas.”

      “He won’t come out of his shell in North Africa for years,” Pilo said. “He won’t be a problem.”

      “He’s at the family estate we had in Carthage?” Luchese asked.

      “Yes,” Pilo said. “Living a nobleman’s life and drinking his cares away. What do you say, Brother? Will you join me?”

      “No,” Luchese said. “This is madness.”

      “I’m sorry,” Pilo said. He looked to the others. “There are snipers all around the grounds. They’ll kill you if you try to escape. The doors will be locked. Make no trouble and you’ll be allowed to live. At least, until it’s time to conduct experiments with the death ray.” He left the library, locking the door from the outside.

      A moment later, Francesca looked to Luchese. “Why are you smiling?” she asked.

      “I’m glad I didn’t tell him about the secret passageway behind the bookcase.”

      “Do those secret passageways connect to all the rooms in the house?” Noah asked.

      Luchese grinned from ear to ear.
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      June 11, 1943

      Voltri, Italy 9:00 a.m.

      

      Elisabetta answered a knock at her apartment door and found Giotto standing in the doorway. He came in and closed the door. “I’m sorry I couldn’t contact you last night.”

      “Are you?” Elisabetta replied.

      “Yes. We had to make sure everything was…”

      “Safe.”

      “That’s right.”

      Elisabetta put her arms around Giottos neck. She could see the caution and fear in his eyes. He put his arms around her waist and kissed her.

      Elisabetta was not impressed and pushed him away. “So it’s come to this,” she said. “You don’t trust me.”

      “That’s not true,” Giotto said.

      “Yes it is. I can tell by the way you look at me, hold me, kiss me.”

      “A lot has happened. I can’t be Don Juan all the time.”

      “Where did you and the others go then?” Elisabetta asked.

      Giotto stared at the floor. Elisabetta touched his chin, lifting his head. “I rest my case.”

      “I’m sorry,” Giotto said. “Be reasonable. We lost everyone except you and Solari.”

      “Then he’s the traitor,” Elisabetta said. “Or don’t you believe me?”

      Giotto said nothing.

      “Are you here to kill me?”

      “It would be safer that way.”

      “Kill us both and rebuild from nothing,” Elisabetta said.

      “Something like that.”

      “Well,” Elisabetta said, pulling out a gun. “I can’t let you do that.”

      “So,” Giotto said, “You’re the traitor.”

      “I’m not,” Elisabetta said. “But that doesn’t matter to you or Lo Spirito, does it?”

      “Put the gun down, then.”

      “I don’t think so. I like to breath.”

      Giotto started toward her.

      “You’re taking the last steps of your life,” Elisabetta told him. “I suggest you stop, turn around, and leave.”

      “If you love me and are not the traitor,” Giotto said, “You won’t shoot.” He continued moving forward. He took the gun gently, and tossed it on the couch, then kissed Elisabetta passionately. He put his hands around her waist, then moved them toward her neck. He couldn’t risk the safety of the Resistance.

      “I love you,” Elisabetta said.

      “I love you too.”

      Half an hour later, Giotto left Elisabetta’s apartment and met the others at a nearby café.

      “Well?” Ruben asked.

      “it’s done,” Giotto said.

      “Next stop,” Luchese said. “Solari’s apartment.”

      “Are you sure you’re okay with what you may have to do?” Ruben asked Tori.

      “Yes,” Tori replied.

      “Very well then,” Giotto said. “Let’s go. Hopefully this plan will reveal the real traitor.”

      At 7:00 p.m., Luchese and Ruben drove a Fiat 1100 on the road leading to Genoa. They were stopped by Bonomi, Arturo and two officers in a squad car.

      “Well,” Luchese said. “That settles that.”

      “I’m afraid so,” Ruben said. “Get ready.”

      Arturo sent his two police officers out of the car to arrest Luchese and Ruben.

      Luchese punched one of them and Ruben shoved the other. Both officers fell to the ground. Before Luchese and Ruben could take their guns, Bonomi pulled out his revolver and fired into the air. Then he aimed at Ruben. “Freeze!”

      Luchese and Ruben froze.

      “Don’t move if you want to live,” Bonomi said. He nodded to the officers. “Handcuff them.”

      Luchese and Ruben were cuffed and searched. “No papers,” one of the officers said.

      “They must be stitched in their clothing,” Arturo suggested. He stepped forward and looked the men over. “You two look strong-willed,” he said. “Either of you could be Lo Spirito. The major and I look forward to speaking with both of you in more…comfortable surroundings. Sergeant Bonomi.”

      “Yes Captain,” Bonomi said.

      “Take them to the jail. I’ll bring Major Angelo there and we’ll all have a nice chat.”

      “Very well,” Bonomi said.  He turned to the two junior police officers. “Put them in the squad car. I’ll drive them in with Arturo.  You two can bring their Fiat in.”

      Luchese squinted at Bonomi. “You look younger,” he said.

      “Excuse me?”

      “You look young for a police sergeant,” Luchese replied.

      Bonomi gave Luchese a confused glance.

      “Father Virgillo gave us your message,” Luchese said. “Do you still want in?”

      “Absolutely,” Bonomi whispered back. He then looked at the two junior police officers. “What are you waiting for. Put them in the back of the car.”
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      October 26, 1936

      Fiesole, Italy

      Luchese’s Villa

      

      Luchese opened the secret passageway behind the bookcase.

      “We should get our devices first,” Mariah said. “And then the scientists.”

      “What about Pilo?” Francesca asked.

      “We’ll take care of him after,” Bonomi said. “Any objections, Luchese?”

      “He’s all yours.” Luchese led them to the room where he’d locked up their devices. He opened a peephole to make sure the room was empty. “It looks clear.”

      “Noah and I will go with you,” Bonomi said. “You ladies stay here.”

      The men entered the room from the secret passageway. Luchese unlocked a cabinet and retrieved the devices.

      “Uh-oh,” Noah said. “Only three TMDs and three stunners.”

      “Pilo must have one of each,” Bonomi said. “What about the books he had with him?”

      “He keeps them close to him at all times,” Luchese said.

      “The Marconi Device isn’t here either,” Noah said.

      “He must still have that with him to,” Bonomi said. “Let’s get the scientists.”

      Luchese relocked the cabinet, and they joined the women in the hidden passage. “Where are the scientists?” Mariah asked.

      “This way,” Luchese said,

      “Tell me Luchese,” Francesca said. “How long did you say Pilo been here with you?”

      “About three months.”

      “He’s had plenty of time to set up his own network,” Noah said.

      “Like that man Fabrizo spying on Santa Croce,” Francesca said.

      “And the thugs at the Ponte Vecchio,” Mariah added.

      “I can’t believe you bought his I’ve-changed story,” Noah said to Luchese.

      “When you have little family left, you’re willing to believe almost anything.”

      Luchese came to a stop, and looked through another peephole. He saw Pilo talking to the scientists. “They’re In there,” he whispered.

      “We should just teleport everyone-us and the scientists out of here and back to the safe house,” Mariah said.

      “Let’s plug in the coordinates” Bonomi said. “Then calibrate the teleport for us and the scientists.”

      “On it,” Mariah said. “It’ll take a few minutes to calibrate both TMD’s.”

      Pilo held the Marconi Device in one hand and a TMD in another. He lectured the scientists on what he expected from them when it came to the Marconi Device and teleportation. Fabrizo stood at Pilo’s side.

      “There’s that Fabrizo again,” Mariah said.

      “His family has been serving Pilo for centuries,” Luchese said.

      “They know his and your secret?” Mariah asked.

      “No,” Luchese said. “He was always able to feign his death and pass himself off as the next generation.”

      “He was able to get away with that?” Bonomi asked.

      “You learn how to get away with it after the first three centuries of practice,” Luchese said.

      “So,” Pilo said, “do all of you understand what needs to be done?”

      “We won’t help you,” Saberstein said. “I’m not going to create a disintegrator gun.”

      “Neither will I,” Klein said.

      “You can count us out too,” Lorenzo said for Spada, who was sitting in a chair, and himself.

      “Really,” Pilo said.

      He turned to Fabrizo. “Go get them,” he said.

      Fabrizo left the room for a moment and came back with two guards and two women: Mrs. Saberstein and Klein’s fiancée. The guards then Spada and pulled her off her seat.

      “Bastards,” Saberstein said. He tried to rise but was pushed back down by a guard.

      “Don’t move,” the guard said.

      “Are you all right Lydia?” Saberstein asked his wife

      “Yes,” she replied.

      “Are you okay?” Klein asked his fiancée.

      “I’m fine.”

      “And Rene?” Professor Saberstein asked.

      “He’s safe with one of my people,” Pilo said. “For now.”

      “Scum,” Lydia said. “You would threaten a baby to get what you want.”

      “I understand your feelings and regret I have to make this threat Madame,” Pilo said. “If your husband and the others cooperate, your son will be returned to you unharmed.”

      “We’ll help you,” Saberstein said.

      “Excellent,” Pilo said. “And you Professor Klein.”

      Klein nodded.

      “Good,” Pilo said. “And you, Professor Lorenzo?”

      “We still won’t help you,” Lorenzo said.

      “Really,” Pilo said. “Fabrizo.”

      Fabrizo smiled at Spada, then took out a Liston Knife and held it against her mouth. She gasped.

      “Now, let me be clear,” Pilo said. “My men will creatively alter this woman’s facial features, without clean instruments or any type of anesthetic. Unless you do what I ask… Do we understand each other Professor?”

      “Yes,” Lorenzo replied.

      Pilo looked at Spada. “And you, my dear? We need your scientific skills as well.”

      Spada tried to nod without cutting herself.

      “Good enough,” Pilo said. He nodded to Fabrizo, who lowered the knife. Spada staggered back into Lorenzo’s arms.

      “Very good,” Pilo said. “Take them to the lab room and lock the other two ladies in their quarters. And gentlemen, if you do well, you will be rewarded. That includes a Jewish Palestine. I am nostalgic for the old days.”

      Everyone left the room.

      “Damn,” Bonomi said. “There wasn’t enough time.”

      “I’m sorry,” Mariah said. “I needed ten more seconds to calibrate to teleport everyone”

      “What do we do?” Francesca asked.

      “We search for the lab and their quarters,” Bonomi said. “And hopefully teleport all the good guys to the safe house.”
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      June 11, 1943

      Voltri, Italy

      9:00 p.m.

      

      Commander Alberto and Sergeant Bonomi waited for Major Angelo and Arturo to come to the station.

      Bonomi tapped his fingers on the desk.

      “Stop that,” Alberto said. “It’s annoying. Hasn’t Francesca ever said that to you?”

      “No sir,” Bonomi said. “I’m sorry.”

      “It’s all right. You did well today.”

      “Thank you, Commander.”

      “Every day you remind me more of your father. He was a great policeman.”

      “I know,” Bonomi said. “I miss him.”

      “Me too,” Alberto said. “He was a great friend too, like you are.”

      “I feel the same way, sir.”

      “Who would’ve thought?” Alberto asked. “Voltri the center of a Resistance cell and spy ring.”

      “It’s unbelievable,” Bonomi said.

      Major Angelo smiled as he stepped inside the station door, accompanied by Captain Arturo. Angelo shook Alberto’s hand and patted Bonomi on the shoulder. “Good work Sergeant,” Angelo said. “You’re a credit to the cause.”

      “Thank you Major,” Bonomi said.

      “Take us to them,” Angelo instructed. Bonomi led Angelo and Arturo to the holding cell, where Luchese and Ruben were being held.  Two guards stood watch over the cell. Angelo looked over the prisoners.

      “You’re right, Arturo,” Angelo said. “Either one of them could be Lo Spirito.” He addressed the captives. “I don’t suppose either one of you want to save us the trouble and tell us who you are.”

      Luchese and Ruben stared back at him in silence.

      Angelo smiled. “It looks like we’re going to have some excitement this evening, Arturo. Sergeant Bonomi, did you find any papers on them?”

      “No sir,” Bonomi said. “They could be stitched in their clothing.”

      “You didn’t search them?” Angelo asked.

      “We thought you might want to conduct the search with your own specialists,” Bonomi replied.

      “Good thinking,” Angelo said.

      Angelo, Arturo, and the guards pulled out their revolvers.

      “Unlock the cell, Sergeant,” Arturo said. “We’ll take charge of them from now on.”

      Bonomi unlocked the door.

      “Remember,” Arturo said. “Any attempt to escape and we will shoot to kill.”

      Bonomi opened the door. Arturo pointed at Luchese. “You first. Move slowly… I want one guard following each prisoner to the car.”

      Luchese left the cell. A guard moved behind him.

      “Now you,” Arturo said to Ruben.

      Ruben slowly stepped from the cell. The second guard stood behind him.

      “Remember,” Arturo said. “Move slowly.”

      “If you could get the front door, Sergeant,” Angelo instructed.

      “Yes, Major.”

      Bonomi went ahead and opened the station door. Scanning the area. “All clear,” he announced.

      Angelo led the way out the front door first. Luchese followed, then the first guard and the others.

      “Open the car door,” Angelo said. “And let’s get them in.”

      Bonomi opened the car door. The guard behind Luchese jabbed him to move him forward. Luchese stepped forward.

      A shot rang out. The guard behind Luchese was hit in the arm and dropped his gun.

      A second shot hit the other guard’s shooting arm, and he dropped his weapon as well.

      Arturo and Angelo brought their guns up. Alberto rushed from the station behind them. “Where are those shots coming from?” he asked.

      “We don’t know,” Arturo said.

      Luchese picked up his guards’ gun and aimed at Bonomi.

      “Time to die,” Luchese said.

      Alberto pushed Bonomi out of the way as Luchese fired. The shot grazed Bonomi’s left arm and nicked Alberto’s forehead. Luchese ran down the street as more shots kept the guards occupied. Ruben bolted after him.

      Arturo took aim at Ruben’s back, but a bullet struck his hand.

      On a rooftop 50 yards away, Giotto and Tori smiled. “You shoot well,” Giotto said.

      “You’re pretty good yourself.”

      “Let’s meet the others and get back to headquarters,” Giotto said.

      Bonomi and Alberto helped the injured guards, Angelo, and Arturo get inside the station. Alberto pressed a towel to his forehead and looked over all the wounds sustained by the others.

      “Hopefully the wounds will mend in time,” Alberto said.

      “You don’t look too good,” Bonomi countered.

      “The head always bleeds a lot,” Alberto said.

      “Thank you for saving my life sir.”

      “Anything for my best friends’ son.”

      “I’ll call the doctor and get him down here right away,” Bonomi said.

      “Italy needs people like you two,” Angelo said.

      “Major,” Arturo said. “We can’t let them get out of Voltri.”

      “Quite right.” Angelo said. “Alberto, can your guards take medical treatment in the field?”

      Alberto looked to the guards, who nodded in the affirmative.

      “I think so, Major,” Alberto said.

      “Good,” Angelo said. “Bonomi, tell the Doctor to meet the guards at the town checkpoints. We have to prevent escape. Arturo, call the headquarters in Genoa and get reinforcements right away.”

      “Yes sir,” Arturo said.

      “If we’re lucky, they’ll hide in the Voltri area tonight,” Angelo said.

      “If not,” Arturo said. “We may never find the information we need.”

      “See if your contact knows anything,” Angelo ordered.

      “Yes sir,” Arturo said.

      “And Captain,” Angelo said.

      “Yes Major.”

      “Be cautious. Your contact may be compromised. That person obviously didn’t know about what just happened.  Take precautions.”
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      October 26, 1936

      Fiesole, Italy

      Luchese’s Villa

      

      Luchese led Francesca, Mariah, Noah and Bonomi to the room he thought Pilo would use for a lab. He looked through the peephole and smiled. “They’re here,” he said.

      Mariah took a peek. She also saw the Marconi Device and the schematics. “I’ll need a few minutes to calibrate two TMDs.”

      Bonomi took out his TMD and started programming it.

      Noah smiled and whispered to Francesca “It’ll be fine.”

      “I hope so,” Francesca said. “The letters we wrote to each other never mentioned this place.”

      “We were probably told not to say anything.”

      “I’m so mad at myself for following the company line,” Francesca said.

      “I guess since the 1945 Luchese didn’t tell us anything, we should return the favor to his 1936 self.”

      “Seems fair,” Francesca said. “Why should he have it any easier than we did, right?”

      Luchese heard his name and came over. “What are you two talking about?”

      “You’ll find out soon enough,” Francesca said. “Don’t worry about it now.”

      In the lab room, Pilo discussed equipment needs with the scientists.

      “You realize Italian Intelligence will stop at nothing to find us,” Spada said.

      “I don’t think they’ll be coming here any time soon,” Pilo replied.

      In the secret passage, Mariah and Bonomi checked their TMDs. “You have the device and the schematics calibrated to teleport along with everyone?” Bonomi asked.

      “One problem,” Mariah said. “But we can’t lock on Pilo.”

      “We’ll come back for him,” Bonomi said. “Okay, all set for the safe house.”

      “Hold on,” Francesca said. “Mrs. Saberstein is pregnant with Bernadette.”

      “They’ll be fine,” Mariah said. “The teleportation process won’t harm either of them.”

      Bonomi and Mariah pressed their TMDs. Bright glowing orbs descended on everyone in the hallway, and on the scientists and the women in the lab.

      “What the hell is happening?” Fabrizo said.

      “Shit!” Pilo yelled. “They’re getting away.” He saw the Marconi Device and schematics vanishing. “They’re taking everything.”

      A moment later, everyone but Pilo, Fabrizo, Klein and Mrs. Saberstein were gone. Mariah and Noah materialized in the room.

      Mariah tried to press her TMD again to get them out of there, but the power cells had drained. “Shit,” she muttered. “Must have been too much for the TMD.”

      “You were in my brother’s library,” Pilo said. “How did you escape? Where are the others?”

      Mariah and Noah remained silent.

      Pilo looked to Fabrizo and the guards “Bring them.”

      The guards rounded up the captives and followed Pilo to the empty library. Once inside, Pilo turned to Mariah and Noah. “If you don’t want to die a very painful death, tell me where my brother took the others.”

      They didn’t answer.

      “Fabrizo,” Pilo said. “Start with the woman.”

      Guards held Noah and Mariah. Fabrizo took out his Liston Knife and held it by Mariah’s gut…

      “Be careful, Fabrizo,” Pilo said. “We need her alive, for now.”

      “I’ll talk,” Mariah said.

      “Excellent,” Pilo announced. “I didn’t think it would be that easy. Where are they?”

      “They teleported to our hiding place.”

      “Is there a way to contact them?”

      “Yes,” Mariah said. “But not for a little while.”

      “Why?” Pilo asked.

      “My device has to recharge,” Mariah said, holding up her TMD. “it needs to be by a window in the sunlight.”

      “Fascinating,” Pilo said. ““How long until that’s done?”

      “About two hours.”

      “Very well,” Pilo said. “I’ll take that from you.”

      Pilo took the TMD and put it in his pocket, where the history book was. “Fabrizo. Take them to the work room and keep them under guard until we contact their friends.”

      “Yes, My Lord,” Fabrizo said. He and the guards marched the captives back to the work room and locked the door.

      “My God,” Klein said. “What do we do now?”

      “What about the others?” Mrs. Saberstein asked. “How did they disappear?”

      “We can’t explain now,” Noah said, and looked to Mariah. “But I do want to know why you told him where the others are?”

      “I had no choice,” Mariah whispered. “He was going to stab me and…harm my baby.”
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      June 12, 1943

      Voltri, Italy

      The New Resistance Headquarters

      2:00 a.m.

      

      Giotto was furious when he learned the traitor’s identity. His first instinct was to kill that person outright, but he discussed the matter with Ruben, Luchese and Tori.

      “I thought I knew that person,” Tori said.

      “You and me both,” Giotto said. “We should eliminate the traitor now.”

      “Both of you should relax,” Ruben said.

      “You don’t understand,” Giotto said. “I trusted—"

      “You’re the leader of a Resistance Cell,” Ruben said. “There are always traitors. Didn’t they tell you that in training?”

      “Yes,” Giotto said. “But I thought I could—”

      “Pick them out because of your superior intelligence and Foundation Training?” Luchese asked. “That was your first mistake. Trust me. I know from millennia of experience.”

      “What do you suggest we do?” Giotto asked.

      “Use the traitor to our advantage,” Ruben said.

      “I agree with Ruben,” Luchese replied. “This could help make the mission successful.”

      “You have a plan?” Giotto asked.

      “Let’s devise that now,” Luchese said. “And then bring in Elisabetta and Solari and brief them.”

      An hour later, Elisabetta and Solari were searched, blindfolded and brought to the new Resistance headquarters. Elisabetta smiled at Giotto. He didn’t return the smile. Solari winked at Tori, who winked back.

      “Sorry for the blindfolds,” Giotto said. “But we need to ensure everyone’s safety.”

      “We understand,” Solari said.

      “So, this is the new headquarters?” Elisabetta asked.

      “We’ll see,” Giotto said.

      “We don’t have a lot of time,” Ruben said. “We need to get Lo Spirito out of Voltri to the Swiss Border.” He laid out a map showing Northern Italy, France, and Switzerland. “We have a red Fiat for the journey, which the driver will take the most discrete northwestern route.”

      “Which route?” Elisabetta asked. “Toward Geneva or Lausanne?”

      “Luchese will keep that information to himself,” Giotto said. “Until the time is right.”

      Ruben nodded. “We have to provide a driver and protection. Once he reaches another cell, they’ll get him the rest of the way to the border.”

      “Who drives?” Solari asked.

      “You,” Giotto said. “Sofi will accompany you. The rest of us will follow at a distance.”

      “Thank you for the assignment, sir,” Solari said. “I won’t let you down.”

      “I know you won’t,” Giotto said.

      “I’m concerned,” Elisabetta said. “Won’t the Fascists have checkpoint patrols?”

      “Yes,” Giotto answered. “But Virgillo has arranged a few diversions.”

      “What are they?” Elisabetta asked.

      “Better not to know,” Giotto said. “Any other questions?”

      The crew was silent.

      “Good,” Giotto said. “We leave in an hour. Until then, everyone stays here.” He avoided Elisabetta’s glare and left the room.

      “He’s very concerned about the mission,” Tori said.

      “I know,” Elisabetta said. “It hurts seeing him like this and being unable to comfort him.” She left the room, followed by Luchese and Rueben.

      “I’m glad we have some time alone before we go,” Solari said.

      “I am too,” Tori said, and locked the door. “I couldn’t stop thinking of you after I left your apartment.”

      “I couldn’t stop thinking of you either,” Solari said.  “What can we do in an hour to ease the tension?”

      Tori kissed him. Solari picked her up and set her on the table. “I’m sure we can think of something,” he said, kissing her back.

      Elisabetta looked for Giotto, and found him in a small room with Ruben and Luchese. “I’m sorry to interrupt,” she said. “Can I have a moment with Giotto please?”

      Giotto nodded, and the others left them alone.

      “I would have thought that you trusted me again,” Elisabetta said.

      “I do. It’s just that this is an important mission, and I wish we had more people.”

      “So you’re not worried about Solari?”

      “No,” Giotto said. “We found out the traitor was one of the contacts outside the cell. They’ve been dealt with.”

      Elisabetta put her hands-on Giotto’s shoulders and massaged him. “No wonder you’re so upset. You feel guilty.”

      “I feel guilty about allowing myself to be used,” Giotto said. “I have to be a better judge of people if this cell is going to have any success.”

      “I understand. I’ll help you. Don’t worry. We’ll get it right.”

      Giotto took Elisabetta’s hand and kissed it. “Thank you my darling.”

      She put her head on his shoulder. “Everything will be fine. You’ll see.”
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      October 26, 1936

      The Safe House

      Florence, Italy

      

      Francesca, Bonomi, Luchese, Klein’s fiancé and the scientists teleported into the safe house. Lorenzo and Spada asked how that was possible. Saberstein wanted to know whether his wife and son were safe. Klein’s fiancé was panicking.

      Rather than deal with the chaos, Bonomi shot them all with his stunner. They all fell to the floor unconscious.

      “They’ll be fine,” Bonomi said. “They’ll sleep for a few hours.”

      “Can we go back and get the others?” Francesca asked.

      “The TMD is recharging. Maybe in a couple of hours.”

      “Why are the TMD’s having such problems?” Francesca asked. “They never have before.”

      “Pilo and his friends infiltrated the foundation and damaged the power supply. It’s affected the TMD’s for the time being.”

      “Damn,” Francesca said. “That explains why the others didn’t they come with us?” Francesca asked.

      “Their TMDs will need to charge in the sun for a few hours,” Bonomi said. “I’m worried about Mariah.”

      “I know,” Francesca said. “And Noah? Can we contact them?”

      “When the power comes back on. Assuming they haven’t been captured. Nothing to do but wait.”

      They sat down at a dining table. Francesca looked at the scientists on the floor. “It’s hard to believe we’re dealing with them, years before we met them.”

      “That’s time travel,” Bonomi said, tapping his hands on the table.

      “You still have that nervous habit of tapping your hands on the table,”

      “Drives Mariah crazy,” Bonomi said.

      “It drove me crazy too.”

      “Really. You never said anything.”

      “I didn’t want to annoy you.”

      “That didn’t stop Mariah,” Bonomi said. “She’s different from you in that way, I suppose. How are you getting on with Noah?”

      “He’s great,” Francesca said. “Kind of the same situation. He’s like you in many ways. Different in others. Have you two decided on your wedding?”

      “We’ve talked about it, but she’s been a little quiet on the topic lately.”

      “You’ll figure it out,” Francesca said.

      “Mariah told me about your mother,” Bonomi said. “I’m sorry. I liked her.”

      “I know,” Francesca said, not wanting to tell Bonomi her mother hated him, once she learned he was working for the Resistance. “Let’s take a quick nap. Maybe the power will be on when we get up.”

      “Good idea,” Bonomi said. “You take the bedroom. I’ll stay out here.”

      “Thanks.” Francesca rose and looked to the unconscious scientists. “What about them?” she asked. “Should we get pillows or blankets for them?”

      “Nah,” Bonomi said. “They’re fine. They should be out until we wake them up.”

      Ninety minutes later, Bonomi’s TMD beeped and woke him up. Francesca heard it to and emerged from the bedroom.

      “It’s the communicator on the TMD,” Bonomi said. He turned it on. “Bonomi here.”

      “Buon Giorno Signore Bonomi,” Pilo said. “Would you like to speak with the mother of your child?”

      “The what?” Bonomi asked.

      “Oh my,” Pilo said. “You didn’t know. Would you like to speak with her?”

      “Yes,” Bonomi said.

      “Talk to him,” Pilo told Mariah.

      “I’m here,” Mariah said.

      “Are you okay?” Bonomi asked.

      “Yes, and everyone else too.” Mariah told him.

      “And our baby?”

      “Fine,” Mariah said. “I’m sorry you had to find out this way.”

      “It’s okay,” Bonomi said. “We’ll talk about it later.”

      “That’s enough,” Pilo said, and took the TMD. “I suggest a trade, Signore Bonomi. Bring me the scientists, the Marconi Device and the schematics tomorrow at noon, at the top of the Duomo, and I will give you your friends, Lydia Saberstein, and her son.”

      “Noon tomorrow at the top of the Duomo,” Bonomi confirmed.

      “Good. And no tricks, Bonomi,” Pilo said. “Or your lover and child are the first to fall off the top of the Duomo. Until tomorrow, then.” Pilo hung up.

      “You know it’s a trap,” Francesca said.

      Bonomi slammed his fists on the table. “What do we do?”

      “I don’t know,” Francesca said.

      “There may be a way,” Luchese said, surprising them.

      “I guess the stunner doesn’t work as well on your kind?” Francesca asked.

      “Different genetic make-up than you,” Luchese said. “I had a good nap, though. I think I know how to defeat Pilo.”
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      June 12, 1943

      Voltri, Italy

      The New Resistance Headquarters

      3:13 a.m.

      

      Giotto and Ruben blindfolded Elisabetta and Solari again.

      Tori and Luchese followed them. Giotto put Solari in the red Fiat’s passenger seat. Tori and Luchese sat in the back. Giotto drove. Ruben followed in a second car, the blindfolded Elisabetta beside him.

      A few minutes later, the cars were on the Vico Nicolo da Corte Road. Giotto removed Solari’s blindfold. “Remember,” Giotto said. “Follow Luchese’s instructions.”

      “Understood,” Solari said.

      “Go home when you’re done. We’ll contact you when it’s safe.”

      “Yes sir.”

      “Good luck. We won’t be far behind.”

      Giotto gave Solari a revolver and looked to Luchese and Tori, wishing them well.

      Solari drove off.

      Giotto strode to the other vehicle and got in the back. He removed Elisabetta’s blindfold.

      “Where are we?” Elisabetta asked.

      “Vico Nicolo,” Giotto replied.

      “What do we do now?”

      “We’ll wait a few minutes, then follow.”

      “Is this going to work?” Elisabetta asked.

      “Hopefully,” Giotto said.

      “We can’t say for sure,” Ruben added.

      “Wonderful,” Elisabetta said.

      A moment later, Ruben turned the key, but the car would not start.

      “What the hell?” Giotto asked.

      Ruben tried again, to no avail. “Shit.”

      Everyone got out and looked under the hood. There were no obvious problems.

      “The car has petrol, right?” Elisabetta asked.

      “Of course,” Giotto said.

      He walked around the car and smelled petrol. There was a stain on the road. He put his  finger to the spot and brought it to his nose. “Fuel leak. Must have been leaking the whole drive.” Giotto replied.

      “Sabotage,” Elisabetta said.

      “I can’t see how they could have,” Ruben said.

      Solari kept the lead car moving.

      Luchese spoke from the back. “I’ll give you the next set of directions in about five minutes.”

      “Understood sir,” Solari replied. A few minutes later, they saw a vehicle blocking the road. Solari continued to drive but stopped the car when they came up next to the other vehicle.

      “What’s this?” Tori said.

      “Who are they?” Luchese asked.

      Angelo and Arturo stepped from the vehicle and walked toward them.

      “About the new directions, Lo Spirito,” Solari said, drawing Giotto’s gun. “We won’t be going to Switzerland today.”

      “You fuck,” Tori said, and drew her own gun.

      Solari shot her in the torso. She slumped onto Luchese’s lap. Solari aimed the gun at Luchese.

      “Swine,” Luchese said.

      Solari felt Tori’s neck, looking for a pulse.

      “I really liked her, sir,” Solari said. “But I had to do my duty.”

      Angelo and Arturo rushed to the car and opened it.

      “is everything under control, Captain Pitto?” Angelo asked.

      “Yes Major,” Solari/Pitto said. “I had to shoot the woman.”

      “We didn’t need her anyway,” Angelo said, and looked to the back seat. “It’s an honor to meet you, Lo Spirito.”

      “I cannot say the same, Major.”

      “Take him to the car,” Angelo said.

      Arturo pulled Luchese from the back seat, took his weapon, and led him to the other car. Angelo and Pitto followed. “You did a splendid job,” Angelo said.

      “Thank you,” Pitto said. “I look forward to my next assignment.”

      “We’ll discuss that as soon as we’re done with Lo Spirito,” Angelo said. “If he does have information on the Allied invasion, you may have just saved Italy and the Axis.”

      “I hope so.”
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      October 25, 1936

      Fiesole, Italy

      Luchese’s Villa

      10:22 a.m.

      

      Mariah napped beside Noah while they sat on the floor, waiting to be taken to the Duomo for the trade.

      Klein and Lydia Saberstein were clearly apprehensive. “Don’t worry,” Noah said. “You’re going to be fine. Trust me.”

      “I’m sorry,” Lydia said. “But how can you be so sure?”

      “I just am,” Noah said. “I can’t explain.”

      “You still haven’t explained where the others went,” Klein said.

      “I’m sorry,” Noah said. “I can’t.”

      “If I didn’t know any better,” Klein continued, “I’d guess that Operation Corvo was perfected, and you somehow applied it at a temporal travel.”

      Noah said nothing.

      “Is he right?” Lydia asked, then said, “Tell us what we need to do. Do we stay in Italy with the German and Italian alliance in place? Do we go back to Palestine?”

      “I’m sorry. I don’t know what to tell you.”

      “You mean you can’t tell us,” Klein said. “Something about disrupting history.”

      “But it’s not history yet,” Lydia said.

      “For him, it is,” Klein said.

      Lydia studied Noah’s face, but he looked away. “I hope the future is bright,” Lydia said. “And that my children are safe.”

      Noah turned back and smiled.

      “Thank you,” Lydia said. “It’s good to know they will be fine.”

      Mariah woke up. “Everything okay?”

      “Yeah,” Noah said. “How are you feeling?”

      “A little nauseous,” Mariah said. “Thank God morning sickness isn’t bad in my family.”

      “How far along are you?” Lydia asked.

      “Two months,” Mariah said. “I just found out a few weeks ago.”

      “And you haven’t told Bonomi yet?” Noah asked.

      “I was going to,” Mariah said. “But we’ve been on missions, and I was looking for the right time.”

      “How did you get away with going on missions?” Noah asked.

      Mariah leaned over and whispered in Noah’s ears “Bernadette knows and allowed it. God! There are times I wish we never went on that year-end summer trip.”

      “You don’t mean that,” Noah said.

      “Okay, maybe not. I’m just dreading the talk I am going to have with Bonomi when this is over.”

      “Francesca and I will be there for you,” Noah said.

      Pilo and Fabrizo came in, flanked by to armed guards. “It’s time,” Pilo said. “We’re taking all of you with us. We’ll get your son on the way, Mrs. Saberstein.”

      “These guards and two others will watch over you,” Fabrizo said. “No tricks, or you’ll all be killed. “

      “Does everyone understand?” Pilo asked.

      The group nodded.

      “Let’s go then,” Pilo said. “The view from the Duomo this time of day is spectacular.”
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      June 12, 1943

      Voltri, Italy

      Vico Nicolo da Corte Road

      3:13 a.m.

      

      Garth and Stein spotted the Fiat as they walked along Vico Nicolo Corte Road. Drawing near, they saw Tori face-down in the back. “Oh shit,” Garth said. He jerked the door open and put a hand on Tori’s neck, feeling for a pulse.

      “Oh my God,” Garth said. “Is she alright?”

      “I will be once you get your cold hand off my neck,” Tori said.

      Garth jumped back and stood beside Stein.

      “Colonel Garth,” Tori turning around.

      “Are you okay?” Garth asked.

      “For getting shot point blank in the torso by someone who I thought was a hero but turns out to be a traitor to the Resistance, I’m not too bad.” She climbed from the car and unbuttoned her shirt, revealing a bulletproof vest.

      “Prudent preparation,” Stein commented.

      “Giotto and Ruben suspected this could happen,” Tori said. “They also gave me that handball to mimic no-pulse in case they checked me. I held my breath for the longest time while Solari checked on me.”

      “Good job,” Stein said.

      “Excuse me. Who are you?”

      “Mason Stein.”

      “Grey Branch,” Tori said. “This must be a bigger mission than we thought.”

      “It is,” Stein said. “And you’ve done your part.” He took out a TMD and programed it.

      “I guess you’re sending me back to the Foundation Lab?” Tori asked. “I just can’t believe Pitto was the traitor. I didn’t think…”

      “You projected Noah onto him,” Garth said.

      “I guess so,” Tori said. “I don’t think Noah ever knew I loved him. I guess I was dreaming of what might be.”

      “Understandable,” Garth said.

      “You’re sure you don’t need me for the rest of the mission?” Tori asked.

      “Yes,” Stein said. “Thank you for all you’ve done.”

      “Good luck,” Tori said.

      Stein pressed the TMD and sent Tori back to her time in 2024.  “Okay,” he said, “lets meet up with Ruben and Giotto and finish this assignment.”

      Elisabetta, Giotto and Ruben were walking back toward Voltri when a police car came toward them.

      “Another pleasant development,” Ruben said.

      The car stopped. Alberto and Bonomi got out. “Are you three all right?” Bonomi asked.

      “We need a vehicle to follow our people,” Giotto said.

      Elisabetta, Ruben and Bonomi were surprised by Giotto’s request of the police commander.

      “Well, “Alberto said. “I don’t know if I can lend you the police car.”

      That remark stunned the others as well.

      “Wait a minute,” Bonomi said. “You’re part of the Resistance?”

      “Who do you think referred you to Giotto,” Alberto said.

      “Surprised?” Giotto asked.

      “Why didn’t you tell me?” Elisabetta said to Giotto.

      “Yesterday, I wasn’t sure whether I’d have to kill you. It was on a need-to-know basis, and you and the others didn’t need to know.”

      “Hold on,” Bonomi said. “The waiter at the café. You let Angelo kill him. Why?”

      “It was necessary, and I couldn’t help him,” Alberto said. “The Resistance is more important than any one individual.”

      “For the greater good,” Bonomi commented.

      “Absolutely, Sergeant,” Giotto confirmed.

      “But I thought you were a dedicated Fascist,” Bonomi said. “Like my father.”

      “Mussolini betrayed us and Fascism with his premature involvement in this war,” Alberto said. “Then I saw the state become Pro-Nazi. That is not the Italy I want to live in.”

      “Anyway,” Giotto said. “Enough with the questions. We have to get to our people.”

      “We know where they are,” Alberto said. “Angelo told us where they’d be. They took them to the Casa delle Anime.”

      “The House of Souls,” Giotto said. “I guess he figured no one would bother him there.”

      “Why’s that?” Ruben asked.

      “It used to be an inn during the Middle Ages,” Giotto replied. “The innkeepers killed some of the rich guests and buried their bodies on the grounds. It’s said the victims still haunt the place.”

      “This should be fun,” Ruben said. “What’s their strength at this house?”

      “There’s Angelo and Arturo,” Alberto said. “With six Black Shirts that came in earlier this evening.”

      “We need more people,” Elisabetta said. She looked to Alberto and Bonomi. “Will you come with us?”

      “No,” Giotto said. “They need to be as anonymous as possible.”

      “We can help,” Garth said, walking up behind them. Stein walked with him.

      Elisabetta drew her revolver and aimed at them.

      “No,” Ruben said, pushing the gun down. “They’re with us.”

      “I’ve never met them,” Elisabetta said. “Or seen them in town.”

      “They’re from another cell,” Giotto said. “They work with Sofi.”

      “Oh,” Elisabetta said.

      “You two can go back to the police station,” Giotto said to Alberto. “We’ll be in touch.  Would you please take Elisabetta home?”

      “What?” Elisabetta asked. “You need me.”

      “You’re right,” Giotto said. “I do. I need you to restart the Resistance cell with Bonomi, Alberto, and Virgillo in case I don’t come back.”

      “I thought for a moment you still didn’t trust me,” Elisabetta said.

      “I trust you with my life,” Giotto said. “I’m sorry I had the slightest doubt.” He kissed her.

      “Giotto,” Ruben said. “We should go.”

      “Good luck,” Elisabetta said. “I love you.”

      “I love you,” Giotto replied.

      Elisabetta drove off in the police car with Alberto and Bonomi.

      “It’s good to see you, Colonel,” Giotto said to Garth. “It’s been a long time. And you too, Mason.”

      “And you,” Garth said.

      “Likewise,” Stein added.

      “Is Tori okay?” Ruben asked.

      “She’s back home,” Stein said. “And upset that she trusted Pitto.”

      “That makes two of us,” Giotto said. “I wouldn’t mind taking him out personally.”

      “That may not be wise,” Garth said.

      “Why not?” Giotto asked.

      Stein spoke up. “It’s better for all concerned that he stay in the Resistance, feeding the Axis mostly false information.”

      “I see,” Giotto said. “So, what do we do?”

      “We give them such a fight,” Stein said, “that they believe the information Luchese has on him is genuine.”

      “We also rescue Lo Spirito,” Garth said. “He’s essential to the Foundation.”

      “Any questions?” Stein asked. When no one spoke up, Stein took out his TMD and set the coordinates for the Casa delle Anime.

      “Everybody ready?” Stein asked, then pressed the teleporter button.
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      October 25, 1936

      The Duomo

      Florence, Italy

      11:30 a.m.

      

      It was cloudy and windy in Florence. Pilo, Fabrizo and three henchmen escorted Mariah, Lydia Saberstein, Noah and Klein into the Duomo and toward the staircase that led to the Cupola.

      Pilo told two of his henchmen to stay on the ground floor and keep sightseers away from the stairs.

      “What about the people already up there?” Fabrizo asked.

      “They should be gone by the time the other guests arrive,” Pilo replied. “You and Michael come with me.”

      The climb to the Cupola took about five minutes. Once there, Pilo looked around. “It really is a wonderful view of Florence. And the city… It’s so different from the first time I came up here.” He counted the sightseers as Fabrizo and Michael kept Mariah, Lydia, Noah and Klein close together.

      “Only three people,” Pilo said to his men. “Thank Grandfather for the clouds and wind. Cuff the prisoners to the rails when the others leave.”

      The onlookers left a few moments later, and Mariah, Noah and Klein were cuffed to the rails. Rene was a little fidgety and Pilo allowed Mrs. Saberstein to hold him while Michael trained his revolver on her.

      “Remember,” Pilo told Fabrizo, “we capture all of them and take them back to the Villa.”

      “Understood, my Lord.”

      “I knew you wouldn’t go through with a trade,” Mariah said.

      “I’m sure your lover and the others know that too,” Pilo remarked.

      A moment later, Bonomi arrived, alone. He looked to Mariah.

      “Right on time,” Pilo said. “Where are the others?”

      “They’ll be up shortly,” Bonomi told him. “I just wanted to make sure everyone was unharmed.”

      “See for yourself,” Pilo said. “And remember that my men have their weapons trained on you.”

      Bonomi walked over and hugged Mariah. “Are you all right?”

      “Yes,” Mariah said.

      “You and I have a lot to talk about when this is over,” Bonomi told her.

      “I know,” Mariah said. “I’m sorry I didn’t tell you about the baby.”

      “Shhh,” Bonomi said. “It’s okay. I love you.” They kissed, and Bonomi looked to the others. “Everyone all right?”

      “Never better,” Noah said. “How’s Francesca?”

      “Everyone’s good.”

      “Enough,” said Pilo. “Bring the others up and we’ll get on with it.”

      “One moment,” Bonomi said. “Let Mrs. Saberstein and her son go. They have nothing to do with this.”

      “You’re right. Innocent children need not be part of this arrangement. Mrs. Saberstein, you and your son may go.”

      “Thank you,” Mrs. Saberstein said. She took Rene and left the Cupola.

      “Now,” Pilo said. “It’s your turn.”

      “How about Mariah and our unborn child?” Bonomi asked.

      “I don’t think so,” Pilo replied. “I’m not giving up that psychological advantage.”

      “Bastard,” Bonomi said. He blew a loud whistle, and Luchese entered the Cupola.

      “It’s good to see you, Brother,” Pilo said. “Now where are the others?”

      “Brother?” Luchese said. “You’re not my brother.”

      Pilo drew his pistol and aimed at Mariah. Fabrizo drew down on Noah, while Michael took aim at Klein.

      “Enough with the games,” Pilo said. “Where are the others, the Marconi Device and the schematics?”

      “I’m not playing games,” Luchese said, and turned to Pilo’s companion. “Fabrizo, I’ve learned a terrible truth. This is not your lord.”

      “You lie,” Fabrizo said.

      “I can prove it,” Luchese insisted. He moved to the Cupola entrance and called for someone to come up. A moment later, Pilo’s 1936 self appeared.

      1936 Pilo looked to the 1945 Pilo. “What is this?” he asked. “Who are you?”

      “Who are you?” Fabrizo demanded.

      “Fabrizo, it’s me,” 1936 Pilo said. “Where have you been these last few weeks? You vanished from the villa in Tunisia. We looked for you. Where did you go?”

      “You,” Fabrizo said to 1945 Pilo. “came and brought me here to Florence.”

      “It wasn’t me,” 1936 Pilo said. “Remember what we did that night, before that imposter took you.”

      “You tell me,” Fabrizo said.

      “We ate dinner,” 1936 Pilo said.  “Squid and noodles with pesto. Then we sang the songs I’ve always sung with your family over the years, and discussed plans for returning to Italy.”

      “That’s true,” Fabrizo said. He turned to 1945 Pilo. “Who are you?”

      “I am your Lord, and Caesar of Novus Ordo,” 1945 Pilo said.

      “Then prove it,” Fabrizo said, taking aim at him.

      “You dare aim your weapon at me?”

      “We’re waiting for your proof, Lord,” Fabrizo said.

      “Here’s your proof,” 1945 Pilo said, and drew his gun. The two men opened fire. Fabrizo missed, then slumped the floor with 1945 Pilo’s bullet in his heart.

      1945 Pilo looked to his younger self, raging. “How can you be here? I don’t remember this.”

      “You fucking bastard,” 1936 Pilo said. “You killed Fabrizo.”

      1945 Pilo pulled out his TMD and started programming it.

      Bonomi went to the Cupola exit and  picked up the Marconi Device from behind the where Luchese left it when he and the 1936 Pilo came up the stairs. He pressed the power button and used it to drain the TMD’s power.

      With his TMD not working, 1945 Pilo screamed “BASTARDS” and threw it at Bonomi. He then uncuffed Mariah from the rail and aimed his gun at her head. “Your lady and I are leaving,” he said to Bonomi. “If you try to stop us, I’ll kill her. And your unborn child.”

      A shot rang out. 1945 Pilo’s chest bloomed red.

      1936 Pilo held the smoking gun, shouting “MURDERING SCUM!”

      1945 Pilo staggered back and fell over the rail, dragging a screaming Mariah with him.
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      June 12, 1943

      Voltri, Italy

      Casa Delle Anime

      3:30 a.m.

      

      Giotto, Ruben, Garth and Stein teleported into a room on the second floor of the Casa Delle Anime. Ruben left the room and looked over the upper staircase rail. He could see light from a room on the first floor, coming through an open doorway.

      “This place is creepy,” Garth whispered.

      “Yeah, I feel that too,” Giotto said.

      Stein stepped from the room and looked around, then motioned the others to follow. He gave Giotto a stunner, and made sure the others had theirs ready. They started for the staircase, and the floor creaked beneath them.

      In a room on the first floor, Arturo busied himself tearing up Luchese’s jacket. He found papers sewn into the lining, detailing an Allied invasion of Southern Europe. He passed the documents to Angelo. Solari/Pitto stood in the doorway, keeping watch with two guards.

      “Excellent,” Angelo said. “Italian Intelligence will be very happy to see these. I expect they’ll want to thank you personally, Lo Spirito.”

      “Fuck off.”

      “I understand your feelings,” Angelo said. “I would feel the same, in your position.”

      “What do we do, Major?” Arturo asked.

      “Tranquilize Lo Spirito. He must have a restful journey to headquarters. He’ll need it.”

      Arturo shot Luchese with a tranquilizer gun.

      “Bastards,” Lo Spirito said, and blacked out.

      Pitto looked to Angelo. “Am I coming to headquarters?” he asked.

      “No,” Angelo told him. “We need you to stay here, to spy on the cell and report on their activities.”

      “But how? After this, they’ll know I’m a traitor.”

      “There are only two people in the Resistance who know that for certain,” Angelo said. “You killed one, and we’re taking the other to a place he’ll never leave.”

      “They still won’t be convinced,” Solari said.

      “I agree,” Angelo said. “That’s why we’ll have to do something more persuasive.” He drew his gun and shot Solari in the chest.

      Solari fell to the floor, clutching the wound.

      “That should convince them,” Angelo said. “Don’t worry. They should find you before you bleed to death.”

      “And if they don’t…” Solari asked.

      “The Duce thanks you for your service to the state,” Angelo replied.

      Stein saw a guard at the bottom of the stairs. He motioned to Garth, who stunned the guard unconscious.

      “Slowly and quietly,” Stein whispered as they moved down the stairs.

      When they reached the first floor, Stein and the others raced through the open doorway doorway. They saw Luchese, unconscious or dead in a chair. Solari was on the floor with a hole in his chest. Angelo and Arturo faced the doorway.

      “Welcome,” Angelo said, holding up the invasion papers. “These documents must be very important if you risked the remainder of your cell to come get them.”

      “Hand them over,” Stein said.

      “No,” Angelo replied.

      Stein put the stunner away and drew a revolver. He shot Angelo in the head. Arturo tried to return fire, but Stein was quicker. Arturo was dead before he hit the floor.

      Giotto rushed to Solari/Pitto and checked his injuries. “I’m sorry I let them capture me, Giotto,” Solari said.

      “I know you are,” Giotto said and stunned him from behind. “Fucker.”

      “Ruben,” Stein said, while walking to the window and opening it, “get the invasion plans.”

      The three guards who were watching the cars heard the shots Stein fired and rushed into the house. They reached the doorway as Ruben pulled the invasion plans from Angelo’s hand.

      Giotto and Garth opened fire.

      “BURN THOSE INVASION PLANS!” Stein yelled, firing his weapon. “And grab them!” He nodded toward Luchese and Solari.

      Ruben lit the documents on fire. One of the guards rushed inside and shot him in the leg. The burning papers fell to the floor. Stein shot the guard, who fell on the papers, putting them out.

      “Shit,” Stein said. “Get the plans.”

      Ruben moved toward the fallen guard, but was shot in the chest by a guard firing through the doorway.

      “Everybody out,” Stein said. He, Giotto, and Garth did their best to keep the two remaining guards busy while dragging Ruben, Luchese and Solari through the window.

      The remaining two guards entered the room. Stein shot one through the window before retreating with the others.

      The last guard checked his companions—the first dead, the other wrapping the bullet wound in his arm—then rolled the first body over, revealing the half-burnt plans. He looked to his fellow survivor. “Are you okay?”

      “Yeah.”

      “Good. Let’s get these documents, the Captain and the Major out of here and organize a search for the spies.” The guards dragged Arturo and Angelo outside, put them in cars and drove off.

      Five minutes later, Stein, Garth and the others relaxed in nearby woods. “Are we all good?” Stein asked.

      “My leg is going to need some work” Ruben said, checking his bulletproof vest. “My chest is fine.”

      “Let’s get Luchese and Solari out of here,” Garth said.

      “Right,” Stein said. “We’ve completed the mission.”

      “Do we really need to take Solari?” Giotto asked. “Can’t I just kill him?”

      ”No,” Stein replied. ”He’ll be a great asset to the Resistance, feeding the Fascists whatever we want them to have. He has a tremendous long term benefit.”

      “Small comfort to the Resistance members he killed,” Giotto said.

      “I agree,” Stein said. He pulled out his TMD. “But his survival is essential to preserving the timeline.”

      “How can that be?” Giotto asked.

      “I can’t say,” Stein replied. “I’m sorry.” He then pressed the button, and everyone vanished.
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      October 27, 1936

      The Duomo

      Florence, Italy

      

      Bonomi grabbed Mariah’s hand, but her weight—combined with Pilo’s—pulled him over with her.

      “Oh God!” Mariah screamed.

      All three of them rolled down the outer dome and fell toward the ground below.

      “NO!” yelled Noah, fighting the cuff that held him to the rail.

      Luchese punched Michael to the ground and took his weapon and keys, freeing Noah, who rushed to the Cupola’s edge and looked down. But the curve of the dome kept him from seeing the ground.

      Noah staggered back, disbelieving.

      “I’m sorry for what happened to your friends,” Luchese said. “They were good people,”

      Noah stormed 1936 Pilo and knocked him down, raining blows on him. “You son of a bitch! Why did you have to shoot?”

      “Brother, help,” Pilo said.

      Luchese hesitated, then realized that 1936 Pilo’s death would create a paradox. Reluctantly, he pulled Noah off his brother.

      “I remember this man from Sicily,” Pilo said, indicating Noah.

      Luchese pulled out his stunner and shot Pilo, knocking him unconscious.

      “You should have let me kill the bastard!” Noah screamed.

      “That would be a mistake and you know it,” Luchese said. “We need to get out of here.”

      Tears streamed down Noah’s face. “Where are Francesca and the others?” he asked.

      “They’re still at the safe house,” Luchese replied.

      “Did Bonomi give you a TMD device?”

      “Yes,” Luchese said, and took it from his pocket.

      Noah took the TMD, programmed it, and handed it back to Luchese. “Tell Francesca I’ll be there soon.”

      “Okay,” Luchese said. “Where are you going?”

      “To say goodbye to my friends,” Noah said.

      “Understood,” Luchese said. “We were able to send my brothers two men on the ground floor back to my house. They won’t bother you.”

      “Good,” Noah said.

      Luchese pressed the button and he, 1936 Pilo, the dead Fabrizo, Klein, and Michael disappeared.

      Noah picked up the TMD 1945 Pilo threw at Bonomi, and took the stairs down from the Cupola. When he reached the church floor, he saw Mrs. Saberstein and Rene.

      “My God, Noah, where are the others?” she asked.

      “I’ll explain later,” Noah replied. “Come with me. I’ll take you to them in a few moments.”

      They left the building as police finished cordoning off the bodies. Noah saw the Marconi Device in pieces on the pavement.

      “What happened?” Mrs. Saberstein said.

      “Stay here,” Noah told her.

      He looked to Mariah and Bonomi, both face-down on the stone walkway. He remembered all he had been through with them over the last year and a half. For the greater good my ass, he thought. He started toward Mariah, but a police officer tugged at his sleeve. “I’m sorry Signore,” the officer said. “You can’t go there.”

      Noah was about to protest when he saw two policemen examining 1945 Pilo’s body. Then he remembered the books. He looked to the bodies of his two friends. “I’m sorry,” he said, and headed for Pilo. He asked the policemen looking over Pilo for a moment to say goodbye to his friends.

      One of the police officers approached Noah. “Sir, do you know what happened up there?”

      Noah remained silent.

      “I think you’ll need to come to headquarters,” the officer announced.

      “I’ll take charge of him, officer,” a police sergeant said. It was Stein. Noah glared at him. “Bastard,” he whispered.

      Stein looked to the officers. “Let him say goodbye to his three friends, and I’ll take him to the station.”

      The officers nodded. Noah knelt down and pretended to hug Pilo. “Not immortal now, are you asshole?” he whispered. He slipped the two books from Pilo’s pocket and slid them under his shirt. He thanked the officers, then Stein led him to Mariah and Bonomi. He leaned down, started to cry, and kissed Mariah’s shattered cheek. “I’ll miss you,” he said.

      Next, he knelt beside Bonomi, and retrieved his TMD and stunner.

      “I’ll oversee the transport of the bodies,” Stein said to the closest officers.

      Noah was wondering how to deal with the remains of the Marconi Device when a maintenance man scooped up the pieces and threw them in a trash can.

      “I’ll have my people get that,” Stein said. He took Noah, Mrs. Saberstein and Rene to a secluded corner of the Duomo. “Don’t say anything now,” he told Noah. “We’ll talk later. Give me the books.”

      Noah handed them over.

      “Good work,” Stein said. “Take Mrs. Saberstein and the boy back to the safe house, burn the Marconi Device schematics, then join us at headquarters.”

      Stein pressed his TMD and teleported away.

      “Who was that?” Mrs. Saberstein asked.

      “An asshole,” Noah replied. He programmed his TMD and teleported himself, Mrs. Saberstein and Rene to the safe house. They found Francesca and Luchese sitting at the dining room table. Everyone else was unconscious on the floor. Francesca rushed to hug Noah, and they cried together.

      Mrs. Saberstein looked at the bodies on the floor. “What did you do to them?”

      “They’re fine,” Luchese said. “They’re just asleep.”

      “Are you okay?” Francesca asked Noah.

      “I’ll be all right. You?”

      Francesca nodded. “They were going to have a family.”

      “I know,” Noah said. “I love you.”

      “I love you too,” Francesca replied. “I just want us to live in peace.”

      “Noah,” Luchese said. “I’m sorry to interrupt and I know this is insensitive, but what about the Marconi Device and the books?”

      “Stein has the books. The device was smashed, the pieces thrown out like garbage. Stein said he’d have someone recover them. The schematics are here?”

      “Yes,” Francesca said. “Bonomi put them in a safe in the bedroom.

      “Let’s get them out and burn them,” Noah said.

      Francesca retrieved the drawings and laid them on the dining room table. Noah lit them with a match.

      Luchese frowned. “There’s still the problem that the scientists could draw up new schematics and build a second device.”

      “I think that’ll take care of itself,” Noah said. He took out his TMD and punched in a destination. He then did the same with Bonomi’s TMD, which he gave to Francesca. “You know where to press?”

      Francesca nodded.

      They pressed the buttons, and everyone in the room disappeared.
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      November 21, 2024

      Falcone Foundation

      Arizona State University

      11:23 p.m.

      

      Amos, the technicians and the medical staff had their hands full. They had to deal with Solari and Fabrizo’ wounds and put them—along with the others teleported from 1936 and 1943—into biopods. The 1943 Luchese was in an isolated room, still unconscious from the tranquilizer dart. Breuner and Angelo remained in medically-induced comas. All of their memories still needed to be scrubbed of most of the recent events they’d experienced.

      In the debriefing room, Francesca, Tori and Noah sat around the table, grieving over the loss of Connor, Mariah and Bonomi. Tori could not stop crying. “Connor was a great friend,” she said. “And I’ve known Mariah since kindergarten at Renaissance Academy. She and Bonomi were so happy together.”

      “I can’t believe they’re gone,” Noah said, wiping away tears.

      “All those years in the Resistance,” Francesca said, “it was never easy to lose someone. But this is harder. I’ve lost Bonomi again, and a good friend in Mariah.”

      Ferrara, Stein, Garth, Cohen and Ruben came in. “We’re sorry,” Stein said. “Mariah, Bonomi and Connor were great operatives.”

      “They were our friends,” Tori said.

      “I know,” Stein said.

      “And you knew they weren’t coming back?” Noah asked.

      Stein didn’t answer.

      “Scum,” Tori said. “I sometimes think this is a game for you Grey Branch pukes.”

      “I assure you it isn’t,” Stein said.

      “Right,” Noah said. “What happens now?”

      “The Pilo from 1936 is having his memory wiped, starting when Luchese and Bonomi found him. He’ll be put back a couple of seconds after he left with them. The same goes for the scientists, their significant others and the henchmen. For a day or so, there will be two of each of them in Florence. But they won’t be in contact with each other and the timeline will be secure.”

      “That explains why 1945 Pilo didn’t remember meeting his younger self at the Duomo,” Noah said.

      “The science team will notice the Marconi Device is missing,” Francesca pointed out. “Along with the schematics.”

      “Yes,” Garth agreed. “But it’ll work out.”

      “And you’ll be happy to know,” Stein said, “you did not have to do a whole lot of swaying the Sabersteins and Kleins to stay in Italy. The Italians will take care of that.”

      “Still doesn’t give me a warm fuzzy,” Noah said.

      “Me too,” Francesca said. “How do I look our foster children in the face and tell them we could have saved their parents and we didn’t.”

      “Don’t,” Stein replied.

      “Easy for you to say scumbag,” Francesca said. “You’re not the one raising them.”

      “What about Angelo, Breuner and the two Lucheses?” Tori asked.

      “They’ll be returned to their points in time,” Ferrara said.

      “With the relevant memories erased. Giotto will ease the 1943 Luchese back into his routine.”

      “Where is Giotto?” Francesca asked.

      “Isolated,” Ferrara replied.

      “What about the 1936 Luchese?” Noah asked.

      “Taken care of,” Stein said. “Along with Fabrizo and Solari.”

      “The work on Fabrizo is a little more extensive,” Ferrara said. “We created a family emergency with his brother in Sicily, to account for his two-week absence. We’re planting the false narrative in Pilo’s mind as well.”

      “It was strange seeing Pitto,” Noah said. “Now that I have his face.”

      “For me too,” Francesca said.

      “Francesca and I want to go back to our home in 1945 Voltri now,” Noah said.

      “Absolutely,” Garth said. “It’s tragic the way things turned out, but we couldn’t have completed the mission without your help.”

      “I wish we could just forget this,” Noah said.

      “I can see why we didn’t write ourselves about it,” Francesca said.

      “And it’s important that you never do,” Stein told them. “Even that could alter the timeline.”

      “We understand,” Francesca said.

      “Very well then,” Ferrara said. “Let’s get you home.”

      “Remember,” Francesca said. “The wedding is November 18, 1945. I hope you can all make it.”

      “We’ll try to fit it into our schedules,” Ferrara said, and smiled.
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      October 26, 1936

      Pilo’s estate in Tunisa

      

      Pilo jolted in his desk chair. Had he dozed off? He checked the clock: a few minutes later than the last time he looked.

      There was a knock at the door. He gripped the revolver in the desk drawer. “Come in.”

      Fabrizo stepped inside. “My Lord.”

      “How’s your brother?”

      “He’s well, my Lord. He sends his regards, along with the rest of the family.”

      “I’m glad. I’m grateful for the loyalty your family has shown through the years.”

      “We are honored to serve, my Lord.”

      “Sit with me. We need to talk about the next week.”

      

      October 26, 1936

      Santa Croce Church

      Florence, Italy

      

      The scientists were aghast. The Marconi Device and the drawings were missing. Captain Merretti and the rest of the security detail were beside themselves. “How could those people have gotten in here after we doubled the security detail?” Merretti asked.

      Lorenzo and the rest of his team seemed dazed.

      “Lorenzo,” Merretti said.

      “I’m sorry. Yes Captain?”

      “How the hell did they get in here?”

      “I don’t know.” It must have happened after we left.”

      “I want this place turned upside-down,” Merretti said. “I’ll need to search all of your apartments as well. I can’t trust anyone.”

      Eichmann walked in with a member of the Italian Foreign Service, Roberto Moro. Merretti saluted the diplomat.

      “Report,” Moro said.

      “We’re still trying to find out what happened, sir,” Merretti said. “We’ll leave no stone unturned.”

      “I know you won’t,” Moro said. “You should redouble the security, and start the process of moving the operation. This location is obviously compromised.”

      “Yes sir.”

      “Well,” Moro said. “We bring good tidings from Foreign Minister Ciano. The alliance between Italy and Germany has been finalized. A new Rome and Berlin Axis has been born.”

      “That’s wonderful,” Merretti said. “Fascism united. Don’t you agree Lorenzo? Spada?”

      “Totally, Captain,” Lorenzo said.

      “It is a truly momentous event,” Spada agreed.

      Moro continued. “And our commitment to a Fascist Zionist state in Palestine has been reaffirmed in a secret protocol.”

      “Thank God,” Klein murmured.

      “Yes,” Eichmann said. “We want all the Jews of Europe to have their own homeland in the Middle East, and to emigrate there as soon as possible.”

      “As do we,” Saberstein said.

      “Then we have an understanding,” Moro said, holding out his hand to Saberstein. “You’ll stay and help us in exchange for recognizing your Jewish State in Palestine.”

      Saberstein shook Moro’s hand and smiled. “We do.”

      A few moments later when everyone was celebrating, Klein went to Saberstein and asked “Do you trust them?”

      “I’m not sure but if it gets us control of Palestine.”

      “We’ll see,” Klein said.

      

      June 14, 1943

      Voltri, Italy

      

      The surgeons were unable to save Angelo’s right eye. He was told he’d have to remain in the hospital for a week or more to make sure no infection took hold.

      The guards that were with him and Arturo at the Casa Delle Anime had turned over the burned invasion plans to Italian Intelligence who had rushed down from Genoa after hearing the news that the documents had been discovered.

      The new Resistance headquarters was beneath a focacceria in Voltri. Elisabetta, Giotto, Luchese, and a recovering Solari gathered there to discuss rebuilding the Resistance cell.

      Luchese prepared to leave.

      “It was a privilege working with you, Lo Spirito,” Giotto said.

      “Same here,” Luchese replied. “I just wish I remembered what happened.”

      “That was one hell of a tranquilizer he shot you with,” Giotto said.

      “Indeed,” Luchese said. “I can’t remember anything after we left headquarters. Maybe it’ll come back.”

      Solari suppressed a shiver. “Giotto.”

      “Yes?”

      “I can take Luchese where he needs to go.”

      “No,” Giotto said. “He has it all arranged. Best for our cell members not to know.”

      “Understood, sir,” Solari said, wondering if Luchese’s memory would come back to him.

      “Quite right,” Luchese said. “I must be off to the next mission. Tell Ruben I’m sorry I missed him before he had to go, but I’ll see him soon. Thank you again, Giotto. You’re a valuable ally.”

      “Any time, Lo Spirito,” Giotto said.

      Soon after Luchese left, Virgillo came in with Bonomi and Francesca.

      “I have two new recruits for you,” Virgillo said.

      Giotto shook Bonomi’s hand “Welcome. We couldn’t have accomplished our last task without you.”

      “Thank you, sir. My fiancée will be a great contributor as well.”

      “She will indeed,” Giotto said. “Your code names will be Raphael and Lavonia. Elisabetta, see to the girl’s training.”

      Elisabetta motioned to Francesca. “Come with me.”

      Francesca/Lavonia walked toward Elisabetta who looked her over.

      She is going to be a lot of work, Elisabetta thought to herself. I hope she is not a traitor I have to kill after I train her.

    

  


  
    
      
        
          
          

          
            39

          

        

      

    

    
      December 7, 1972

      Cape Canaveral, Florida

      

      The launch of the Apollo 17 moon flight had gone well. It was the last of the Apollo missions.

      In a hallway where no one else could hear, Steiner sang the patriotic German songs he once sang with his Science Group colleagues in the 1930s and 40s. When he was done, he went to his office to relax a bit before going home. He poured himself a glass of carbonated water and sat behind his desk. When he looked up, Garth and Cohen were standing in front of him.

      “Remember me,” Cohen asked.

      Steiner remembered a day in 1945, when the man who snow stood in front of him nearly killed him beside a river. “Oh my God,” Steiner said.

      “He didn’t help my wife and child,” Cohen said. “And he won’t help you now. Time’s up.”

      Steiner felt a sudden pain in his chest. He rose from his chair and staggered toward the door.

      “You won’t make it,” Cohen said. “You should have picked a different bottle of water.”

      Steiner reached his hand out to Cohen, who stepped back, watching as he fell to the floor. “That was too quick for him,” Cohen said. “He should have suffered more.”

      “Not permitted,” Garth said. “That’s the last of them,” he said, referring to the Nazi war criminals, Patton, Sukolov, and that Vatican ratline runner Spicoli.”

      “We should have taken care of them sooner,” Cohen said. “And more of them.”

      “I agree,” Garth said. “Ruben felt the same way about the Turks we let him hunt down, and those who still had some role to play.”

      “Small comfort,” Cohen said. “Let’s go home. Caterina and the kids are waiting.”

      Garth smiled and took out his TMD. A moment later, he and Cohen were gone.
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      November 18. 1945

      Voltri. Italy

      San Nicolo e Erasmo Church

      

      It was a festive day. Francesca and Noah were getting married.

      Father Virgillo officiated the wedding. Caterina was the maid of honor, Bernadette the flower girl and Rene the best man. Francesca and Noah held hands throughout the ceremony.

      Pitto’s mother sat in the front pew, crying. Tori, Garth, Ruben and Ferrara sat with Luchese in the back. Noah’s mother was also at the back, beside her great grandmother Sylvia. Both women shed silent tears. “It’s a shame your parents aren’t here,” Sylvia said. “Or my mother Madelina and her mother.”

      “I know Nonna,” Mrs. Patterson whispered. “I wish I could have brought Noah’s father, brother and the dog.”

      Up front, Virgillo said, “I now pronounce you man and wife… Ladies and Gentlemen, friends, it’s my pleasure to present Mrs. and Mr. Pitto.”

      The guests stood and clapped.

      “We should leave,” Mrs. Patterson said. “They’ll be coming this way. Who would’ve thought a Cossack raid on a Jewish village in 1911 would help lead to all of this.”

      “And don’t forget your side of the family,” Sylvia said.

      “Of course not,” Mrs. Patterson replied. “None of us would be here if not for that.”

      When Francesca and Noah made their way to the back a moment later, the women were gone.

      

      March 13. 1905

      Ospedale, Policlincio San Martino

      Genoa, Italy

      

      Stein walked the hospital corridor, holding two bouquets of a dozen red roses each. As he approached room twenty, he heard the sound of crying babies. He smiled and knocked on the door. “Is it okay to come in?”

      “Yes,” came the answer.

      Stein went inside. He saw Mariah lying down in her hospital bed feeding one baby and Bonomi standing beside her, holding the other.

      An 87 year old Bernadette came to greet him. “Great to see you Mason. The twins want to meet their godfather.”

      “I wanted to get flowers for the mom; one bouquet for each baby,” Stein said. “Congratulations.”

      “Thank you,” Mariah said.

      Stein looked around for a place to put the flowers. “I’ll have to look for vases. How are the Foundation’s newest members?”

      “Loud,” Bonomi said.

      “You’ll get used to that,” Stein said. “And how’s their mother?”

      “Exhausted,” Mariah said. She took Bonomi’s hand. “I hope you don’t want any more,” she told her husband, “because I don’t know if I do.”

      “I understand, Darling,” Bonomi said.

      “And how go the new lives and identities?” Stein asked.

      “We’re settling in well,” Bonomi replied. “I have to admit I’m still shocked with the new names.”

      “Perfectly understandable,” Stein said. “We’ll have some more assignments for you in about six months, after you’re situated with the twins. We’ll find you a reliable babysitter.”

      “There’s time to discuss that later, Mason,” Bernadette said. “Let’s give this family time to themselves.”

      “When we first got here,” Mariah said, “I was upset. Being in a less-advanced time, I mean… But I have Paolo with me and now, looking at the twins for the first time, and it all seems worth it.”

      “I told you everything would be fine,” Stein said. “And one day, the others will find out.”

      Mariah nodded. “I still can’t help but think about my parents, our families and friends. Everyone thinking we’re dead.”

      “I agree,” Bonomi said. “But like Stein said: one day, they’ll find out.”

      “But the pain they’ve gone through,” Mariah said. “The way Stein described Noah seeing those substitute bodies on the street, thinking that was us…”

      “Let’s not think about it now, darling.”

      “Paolo’s right, Mariah,” Bernadette said. “Focus on your family now. Can I hold my godson again?”

      “Sure,” Mariah said. “Here he is. The Foundations best operative.”

      “Well,” Bernadette said. “There’s time for that.”

      The nurse came in. “Sorry to disturb, Signora and Signore. But records wants to prepare the birth certificates, and they need the babies’ names.”

      “Our daughter’s name is Madelina,” Mariah said, “and my son will be named after my husband’s grandfather Pietro.”

      “Brava,” the nurse said.  “I’ll let the people at records know the children’s names are Madelina and Pietro Angelo and they’ll process the birth certificates.” She scurried from the room.

      “Your son wants you,” Bernadette said, handing him back to Mariah.

      “Thank you.” Mariah looked to Bonomi, who held their daughter. “Give her to me, sweetheart.”

      Bonomi set Madelina next to her brother and kissed Mariah on the forehead.

      “If only I could see Noah now,” Mariah said. “And tell him that the girl he grew up with and had a crush on is actually his great-great-great grandmother.”

      “And that Colonel Angelo is his grand-uncle,” Stein added.

      Full Circle, Bernadette thought.

      

      
        
        THE FIGHT FOR REALITY CONTINUES THIS HOLIDAY SEASON WITH

        JIGSAW: TEMPORAL HONEYMOON

      

      

    

  


  
    
      
        
          
          

          
            Acknowledgments

          

        

      

    

    
      I would like to thank the following people for making this work and series a reality:

      My wife Dr. Gwyneth Gordon for her endless support through the years.

      My family and friends for their encouragement.

      My students, teachers, and staff at Grand Canyon College Preparatory Academy.

      Alexander Miley for the cover art.

      John Robert Marlow and Ross Browne of the Editorial Department in Tucson, Arizona for editing.

      Beta Readers Elizabeth Allen and Jamie_Barry

      David Henry Sterry from The Book Doctors for advise after the first draft of Jigsaw: Beginnings was completed.

      Katy Grant and the students in the Creative Writing Program at Mesa Community College.

    

  


  
    
      
        
          
          

          
            About the Author

          

        

      

    

    
      David Gordon has been a social studies teacher, principal, and the founding owner of the Grand Canyon College Preparatory Academy in Tempe, Arizona. He grew up reading and watching science and historical fiction. He is also a big baseball fan. He combined his various passions in the Jigsaw series, which focuses on time traveling teens thrust into major historical events—many of which never made the standard history books.

      David was born in New York and now lives in Arizona with the love of my life Gwyn. They are both are dog people, and enjoy travel and food—Italian, Asian, Middle Eastern and Indian cuisines in particular.

      If you enjoyed reading Jigsaw Full Circle, please rate it and give a review on Amazon.

      Please click on DavidAlynGordon.com and join our mailing list.

      
        [image: Facebook icon] Facebook

        [image: Twitter icon] Twitter

        [image: Instagram icon] Instagram

      

    

  

cover.jpeg
JIGSAW
FULL GIRCLE

JAVID I\LYN B[]H[][]N





